United Arab Emirates University Scholarworks@UAEU

Theses

Electronic Theses and Dissertations

10-2014

Genotypes Frequencies of Rs9923231 and Rs7294 Snps in the Vkorci Gene among Emiratis and Their Implications for Warfarin Dosage

Hayat Saad Al-Jaibeji

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.uaeu.ac.ae/all_theses

Part of the Medical Sciences Commons

Recommended Citation

Al-Jaibeji, Hayat Saad, "Genotypes Frequencies of Rs9923231 and Rs7294 Snps in the Vkorci Gene among Emiratis and Their Implications for Warfarin Dosage" (2014). *Theses*. 158. https://scholarworks.uaeu.ac.ae/all theses/158

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at Scholarworks@UAEU. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses by an authorized administrator of Scholarworks@UAEU. For more information, please contact fadl.musa@uaeu.ac.ae.





جامعة الإمارات <mark>العربية</mark> المتحدة (United Arab Emirates University

United Arab Emirates University

College of Medicine and Health Sciences

Department of Pharmacology and Therapeutics

GENOTYPES FREQUENCIES OF RS9923231 AND RS7294 SNPS IN THE VKORCI GENE AMONG EMIRATIS AND THEIR IMPLICATIONS FOR WARFARIN DOSAGE

Hayat Saad Al-Jaibeji

This thesis is submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Medical Sciences (Pharmacology and Toxicology)

Under the Supervision of Professor Bassam R. Ali

October 2014

Declaration of Original Work

1, Hayat Saad. Al-Jaibeji, the undersigned, a graduate student at the United Arab Emirates University (UAEU), and the author of this thesis entitled "*Genotypes Frequencies of rs9923231 and rs7294 SNPs in the VKORC1 gene among Emiratis and their Implications for Warfarin Dosage*", hereby, solemnly declare that this thesis is an original research work that has been done and prepared by me under the supervision of Professor Bassam R. Ali in the College of Medicine and Health Sciences at UAEU. This work has not been previously formed as the basis for the award of any academic degree, diploma or a similar title at this or any other university. The materials borrowed from other sources and included in my thesis have been properly cited and acknowledged.

Student's Signature

Date 2/3/2015

Copyright © 2014 Hayat Saad Al-Jaibeji

All Rights Reserved

Approval of the Master Thesis

This master thesis is approved by the following Examining Committee Members:
1) Advisor: Bassam R. Ali
Title: Professor
Department: Pathology Department/CMHS
Institution: United Arab Emirates University Signature
2) Member: Lihadh Al-Gazali
Title: Professor
Department: Pediatrics Department/CMHS
Institution: United Arab Emirates University
Signature Jesterla Date 1/12/2014
3) External Examiner: George P. Patrinos
Title: Associate Professor
Department: Department of Pharmacy
Institution: University of Patras, Greece

AAr Signature _

Date December 1st, 2014

4

This Master Thesis is accepted by:

Dean of the College of Medicine and Health Sciences: Dennis Templeton

Signature

Date

Dean of the College of Graduate Studies: NAGI WAKIM

Signature

Not Wot

Date 232015

Copy <u>]</u> of <u>[</u>]

Abstract

Warfarin is the most commonly used oral anticoagulant medication given as a prophylaxis and/or treatment of venous and arterial thromboembolic disorders. Warfarin doses vary up to 10-fold among patients due to pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics and pharmacogenomics factors. In addition, Warfarin has a low therapeutic index with the risk of developing serious side effects such as severe bleeding or failure of therapy. Therefore, the main challenge to achieve the therapeutic goal in Warfarin treatment is estimating the appropriate dose for each patient. It is estimated that pharmacogenomic factors contribute to more than 60% of dose variability. The gene encoding for the target enzyme of Warfarin, vitamin K epoxide reductase complex 1 (VKORC1), is a highly polymorphic gene and contributes to about 30% of this variability. The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) recommends genetic testing to determine the VKORC1 genotype prior to using Warfarin. However, there are no data on VKORC1 alleles and genotypes or their frequencies among Emiratis. Therefore, the current approach is trial and error with warfarin doses which might lead to some serious complications for patients receiving this medication. In this thesis, we used PCR amplification and direct DNA Sanger sequencing to genotype the two most important variants in *VKORC1* genes (namely, rs9923231 and rs7294). The sample consisted of 117 healthy Emirati nationals as control and 96 patients on stable Warfarin therapy. The alleles and genotypes frequencies were determined for both groups. In addition, the daily Warfarin maintenance dose for patients was examined for associations with the VKORC1 genotypes at the rs9923231 and rs7294positions. There was no significant difference in allele frequencies between the controls and patients for either SNP. The genotypes frequencies for rs9923231 were 25%, 48.4%, 26% for GG, GA, AA genotypes, respectively. In addition, genotypes frequencies for rs7294 variant were 44%, 44%, 12% for GG, GA, AA genotypes, respectively. Crucially, both *VKORC1* polymorphisms were found to be strongly associated with the Warfarin doses required to achieve the target international normalized ratio INR (p < 0.0001). The results of this study confirm the suitability of *VKORC1* genotyping to guide the use of the appropriate Warfarin dosage for Emiratis.

Keywords: Warfarin dosage, rs9923231, rs7294, VKORC1, pharmacogenetics of Emiratis. Pharmacogenomics

Title and Abstract (in Arabic)

تعدد الانماط الجينية لجين VKORC1 على الموقعين rs9923231 و rs7294 بين مواطني الامارات وتاثيرات ذلك على جرعة عقار الوارفرين

هذه الدراسة تعنى بالصيدلة الجينية وذلك بدر اسة تأثير المتغيرات الجينية في انزيم VKORC1 على جرعة عقار الوارفرين وهو دواء شائع لعلاج التخترات الدموية وتسعى هذه الرسالة لمعرفة تردد أهم المتغيرات الجينية في هذا الانزيم في مواطني دولة الإمارات ودراسة حقيقة تأثير هذه الاساط الجينية في كل من موقع الجينية في هذا الانزيم في مواطني دولة الإمارات ودراسة حقيقة تأثير هذه الانماط الجينية في كل من موقع الجينية في هذا الانزيم في مواطني دولة الإمارات ودراسة حقيقة تأثير هذه الانماط الجينية في كل من موقع الجينية في هذا الانزيم في مواطني دولة الإمارات ودراسة حقيقة تأثير هذه الانماط الجينية في كل من موقع الجينية في هذا الانزيم في مواطني دولة الإمارات ودراسة حقيقة تأثير هذه الانماط الجينية في كل من موقع rs9923231 و rs992323 و معل دراسة عمل البحث تمت بجمع عينات لامارتين اصحاء عدد 117 ومرضى يتم علاجهم بعقار الوارفرين عدد 96 وذلك بعد موافقة الافراد المشاركين بالدراسة وبعد جمع عينات الام تم استخلاص مادة الدي ان اي و عمل دراسة جينية عن طريق معرفة السلملة الجينينه في كل من الموقع rs923231 و rs923231 و 253 و موقع rs9223231 و معرعة المرضى اليومية من خلال ملفهم الطبي أدت نتائج هذه الرسالة بمعرفة تردد الاتما الجينية في موقع rs922323 و كان تردد النمط الجيني لى GG هو 25.3 % و الرسالة بمعرفة تردد الأمط الجينية بين المرضى و 253 و لم يلاحظ اي فرق بين تردد الأمط الجيني بين المرضى والاشخاص الاحصاء وفي موقع rs7294 و كان تردد النمط الجيني GG هو 25.3 % و والاشخاص الاحصاء وفي موقع rs7294 كان تردد النمط الجيني GG هو نفس تردد الأمط الجيني موق موقع rs92323 و كان تردد النمط الجيني الأم هو 25.3 % و موالاشخاص الاحصاء وفي موقع rs7294 كان تردد النمط الجيني الأمر الحيني و GG هو أما النمط الجيني بين المرصا والاشخاص الاحصاء وفي موقع rs92323 كان تردد النمط الجيني الي قرى بالتبز بالجر عة مقار الجيني GG موالاشخاص الاحصاء وفي موقع rs92323 كان له اثر اقوى بالتينو بالجر عة مقار نه بالموقع الجيني GR موام الجيني الأمر الجيني تردد النمط الجيني تردد الأمر الجيني تردد النمط الجيني تردد الأمر الجيني تردد النمط الجيني تردد النما الجيني تردد الأمر الموقع الجيني تردد النمط الجيني تردد الأمر الموقع الجيني rs92323 و ولموقي بالتينو بالجر عة مقار نة بالموقع rs92323 و تمار تقوى rs92

Acknowledgements

My thanks go to Professor Bassam Ali who taught me everything (I know) about genetics. I am especially grateful to him as he introduced me to the pharmacogenomics field. His endless ideas and encouragement led to this research.

I would like to thank the committee for their guidance, support, and assistance throughout the preparation of this thesis, especially my co-supervisor Professor Lihadh Al-Gazali and Professor Salim Bastaki. I would like to thank my Mother and my brother Saif for all support. My special thanks are extended to Ms. Anne John, Senior Research Assistant, for her continuous support on a daily basis during this project and her tolerance with trouble shooting and general support. I would like to thank Ms. Reham Milhem for her friendship and for teaching me how to design primers and in thesis format and presentation skills plus many other things about protein work. I would also like to thank Dr. Salma Ben-Salem for technical support. I would like to thank pharmacist Nour Majbour for her effort in designing and accomplishing a statistical analysis of data for my thesis. I would like to thank Dr. Nadia Akawi for sharing her experience in pharmacogenetic research and bioinformatics. I would like to thank my family for everything and I would like to thank Dr. Wala Alsafi for her helpful advices . We are grateful to the Sheikh Hamdan Awards for Medical Research for funding this project.

Dedication

To my beloved family

Table of Contents

Titlei
Declaration of Original Work ii
Copyrightiii
Approval of the Master Thesis
Abstract (in English)vi
Title and Abstract (in Arabic)
Acknowledgementsix
Dedicationx
Table of Contentsxi
List of Tablesxiv
List of Figuresxv
Abbreviationsxvii
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION
1.1 Human Genetic Variation and Drug Response1
1.2 Pharmacogenetics and Pharmacogenomics2
1.3 Warfarin: Historical Overview, Action Mechanism, Clinical Applications and Associated Side Effects4
1.4 Factors Influencing Variability in Warfarin Dose Requirements11
1.4.1 Non-Genetic Factors11
1.4.2 Genetic Factors13
1.5 The Pharmacogenetics and Pharmacogenomics of Warfarin17
1.5.1 Cytochrome P450 Enzymes17
1.5.2 Vitamin K Epoxide Reductase (VKORC1)

1.6 The Global Prevalence of the Clinically Relevant VKORC1 Alleles and Genotypes	23
1.7 Warfarin Usage in the UAE	27
CHAPTER 2: STUDY RATIONALE, AIM AND OBJECTIVES	28
2.1 Rationale	28
2.2 Aim and Objectives	28
2.2.1 Aim	28
2.2.2 Objectives	29
CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS	30
3.1. Blood Sampling	30
3.2. Extraction of DNA from Peripheral Leukocytes	30
3.3. Primers Design	
3.4. Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)	31
3.5. Analysis of PCR Amplicons by Agarose Gel Electrophoresis	32
3.6. DNA Sequencing	33
3.6.1. ExoSap-IT Treatment	33
3.6.2. DNA Cycle Sanger Sequencing	34
3.6.3. DNA Sequencing Purification Step	
3.6.4. Formamide Treatment	35
3.6.5. Sequencing Data Interpretation and Genotype Calling	35
3.7. Statistical Analysis	
CHAPTER 4: RESULTS	
4.1. Description of Study Sample	
4.2. VKORC1 Genotype and Allele Frequencies	

4.2.1. Determination of the <i>VKORC1</i> rs9923231 Genotypes and Alleles Frequencies	
4.2.2. Determination of the <i>VKORC1</i> rs7294 Genotype and Allele Frequencies	
4.3. The Rs9923231 and Rs7294 VKORC1 Variants Genotypes Associated with Warfarin Doses Among Emirati Patients	
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	
SIBLIOGROPHY 62	

xiii

List of Tables

Table 1. Sequences of the oligonuceloetide primers used for the PCR
amplification and genotyping of the two VKORC1 SNPs
Table 2. Annealing temperatures optimization and expected product sizes. 32
Table 3. Characteristics of the recruited patients 37
Table 4. Description of the studied polymorphisms (SNPs) of the VKORC1
gene
Table 5. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) labeling recommendations for
Warfarin
Table 6. Genotypes and alleles frequencies among patients and controls for
rs9923231
Table 7. Percentage of rs9923231 SNP Genotypes among both groups,
controls and
Table 8. Ethnic distribution of rs9923231 Genotypes and alleles in various
populations
Table 9. Genotype and Allele frequency for rs7294 for controls and patients. 44
Table 10. Percentage of rs7294 SNP genotypes among both control and
patient groups
Table 11. Ethnic distribution of the rs7294 genotypes and alleles frequencies.
Table 12. Multiple linear regression models with rs9923231 genotypes, age,
and gender
Table 13. Multiple linear regression models with rs2794 genotypes, age, and
gender

List of Figures

Figure 1. Effect of Warfarin on VKORC activity and Vitamin K cycle
Figure 2. Molecular Structure of (A) S -Warfarin and (B) R- Warfarin
Figure 3. Role of γ-glutamyl carboxylase (GGCX) in Vitamin K cycle15
Figure 4. Warfarin effect as Vitamin K anticoagulant
Figure 5. Chromosomal location of VKORC1 gene on the short arm of
chromosome 16
Figure 6. <i>VKORC1</i> gene structure with the relevant non-coding variants24
Figure 7. Agarose electrophoresis analysis of representative PCR reactions for the
two SNPS and primers of experiment and their approximate base pairs
sizes
Figure 8. Graphical presentation of genotype frequencies among patients and
control for rs992323141
Figure 9. Ethnic distribution of rs9923231 genotypes43
Figure 10. Ethnic distribution of the rs9923231 alleles43
Figure 11.Graphic presentation of genotype frequencies among patients and control
subjects for rs729445
Figure 12. Ethnic distribution of rs7294 genotypes
Figure 13. Ethnic distribution of rs7294 alleles
Figure 14. Spearman Correlation Coefficient between rs9923231 genotypes and
daily Warfarin dosage49
Figure 15. Spearman Correlation Coefficient between rs7294 genotypes and daily
Warfarin dose

Figure	16.	Scatter	Plot	representation	of	rs9923231	genotype	relation	to	daily
	١	Warfarin	dose							50

Figure	17.	Scatter	Plot	representation	of	rs7294	genotype	relation	to	daily
	W	/arfarin c	loses							51

Abbreviations

ADR	Adverse drug reaction
DME	Drug metabolizing enzyme
dNTP	Deoxyribonucleotide triphosphate
SNP	Single nucleotide polymorphism
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
MIM	Mendelian inheritance in man
WR	Warfarin resistance
CYP2C9	Cytochrome P450 family 2 subfamily C polypeptide 9
VKORC1	Vitamin K epoxide reductase complex subunit 1
MDR1	Human multidrug resistance 1
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
EM	Extensive metabolizer
IM	Intermedier metabolizer
PM	Poor metabolizer
UTR	Untranslated region

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

1.1 Human Genetic Variation and Drug Response

Inter-individual variation in drug response and the development of drug side effects among patients are major challenges in clinical pharmacology. Several factors usually contribute to this variability including age, weight, level of organ function, co-medications, disease itself, concomitant diseases, cultural and racial factors including genetics, smoking, alcohol consumption and dietary preferences [1]. However, for some medications, the genetic variation is the major contributor with up to 95% in some cases [2].

All humans are genetically identical in about 99% of their genomes. The approximately 1% differences from person to person are mainly in the forms of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs), copy number variations (CNVs) and variation in the number of tandem repeats [3]. A SNP is a change in the sequence of a single nucleotide base[4]. On average, a SNP appears every 1250 bp of DNA in the human genome and they account for about 90% of human genetic variation [3]. Generally, there are numerous polymorphic variants for most genes among the total world population and consequently it is often hard to know which variant is the "true" wild type sequence [5].

SNPs in coding genes of drug metabolizing enzymes, drug receptors, drug binding proteins and drug transporters may cause variability in the structures and/or activities of the encoded proteins [4]. In addition, in some instances SNPs in genes encoding drug-metabolizing enzymes or proteins involved in handling medications may result

in lower mRNA expressions and hence may cause lower enzymic activity or alteration in receptor function [6]. On the other hand, duplications or multiplications of active genes results in higher mRNA levels and thus higher enzyme expression that lead to an increase in enzymic activity and faster metabolism of the medications handled by that particular enzyme [6].

SNPs are responsible for a large proportion of the genetic contribution to variation in drug response and therefore they are key targets for pharmacogenetics and pharmacogenomics studies [4].

1.2 Pharmacogenetics and Pharmacogenomics

Pharmacogenetics is the inherent response or the genetically determined variation in drug response. According to the FDA definition, it is the study of variation in DNA sequences that can affect drug response. Recently, the discipline of "pharmacogenomics" has been defined as the study of variation in DNA sequences and RNA characteristics at the whole genome level that can affect drug response. In other words, pharmacogenomics deals with inter-individual variation at whole genome level with specific expression products and functions that can be used to predict the appropriate treatment for individual patients [7]. To simplify the difference between pharmacogenetics and pharmacogenomics, pharmacogenetics can be defined as the effect of inter-indvidual differences caused by variation in a single gene whereas pharmacogenomics relates to the involvement of many genes or the whole genome in the variability in drug response [7]

To reiterate, genetic variation in genes encoding drug metabolizing enzymes, drug transporters, drug-binding proteins and receptors can all cause variation in the phenotypic response and thus are key targets for studying the pharmacogenetics and pharmacogenomics of most medications [8

Most efforts to study the involvement of genetic variation on dose requirements and responses of patients to drugs were carried out as a result of adverse drug reactions and side effects. These adverse drug reactions are estimated to be the 4th or 6th leading cause of death in the USA and to be the underlying cause of approximately 10% of inpatient admissions to hospitals. It has been estimated that approximately 2,216,000 patients suffer from serious side effects of medication leading to an estimated 106,000 patient deaths in the USA alone [9]. In the UK, adverse drug reactions cost approximately £380 million a year. In addition, an NIH report indicates that one out of ten inpatient admissions are for cases of adverse drug reaction [10].

Study carried out in Saudi Arabia showed that healthcare professionals lack the awareness of the importance of recording adverse drug reactions and analyze related the outcomes [11]. Another Study carried out in the United Arab Emirates (UAE) concluded the prevalence of inadequate knowledge of adverse drug reaction reporting procedures as a major barrier in recording adverse drug reactions [12].

More than 50% of adverse drug reactions relate to an administered dose [1] and 59% of drugs metabolized by polymorphic enzymes have been reported to have serious adverse effects [13].

Therefore, pharmacogenetic and pharmacogenomics studies aim to reduce the risk of medication usage by predicting the optimal dose and the risk of developing side effects associated with particular medication in individual patients. In other words, it aims to identify patients at risk of developing adverse side effects by determining their genetic variants in the genes relevant to the proscribed medication [14].

Over the years, the genetically determined variation in drug response has become increasingly recognized by physicians, geneticists and pharmaceutical researchers. Therefore, there is an urgent need for pharmacogenetics and pharmacogenomics research to determine the appropriate dose for each patient. Consequently, pharmacogenetic testing may open the door for physicians to predict optimal doses and responses to individual medications given to patients.

1.3 Warfarin: Historical Overview, Action Mechanism, Clinical Applications and Associated Side Effects

In the early 1920s, an outbreak of unknown cattle disease was observed in the United States and Canada. Severe spontaneous hemorrhages occurred to cattle and some died after castration or dehorning. Prior to that, these procedures had been performed with no of excessive bleeding. Investigation autopsies of dead animals revealed that the animals bled to death [15]. One year later, a Canadian veterinary pathologist called Frank Schofield attributed the cause of death to the ingestion of hay made from spoiled sweet clover. Subsequent experimental testing on rabbits determined that spoiled clover worked as a potent anticoagulant [15].

In 1929, another veterinarian called L.M. Roderick investigated the cauge of bleeding and suggested that it was caused by the decrease in the function of prothrombin [16]. Subsequently, Henrik Dam from Denmark discovered that vitamin K deficiency can cause a hemorrhagic disease in chickens with lower prothrombin levels similar to the cases reported in cattle in North America [17]. Several years later, a trial was performed to make potent toxins out of spoiled sweet clover at Wisconsin University [18]. In particular, in 1933 Karl Paul Link and his team were able to isolate the toxic hemorrhagic substance [19]. Link and his group also identified the chemical structure of this compound as 3, 3,-Methylene-Bis-(4-Hydroxycoumarin) [20]. Link later named this compound Dicoumarol, which is a fermentation of the plant molecule Coumarin [21], that is present in many plants and gives the sweet smell of fresh grass and hay. Interestingly, the name "sweet clover" comes from its high content of Coumarin [18].

The Coumarin molecule itself has no anticoagulant properties but this activity results from its fermentation by fungi. Link donated the patents for Dicoumarol to the Wisconsin Alumni Research Foundation (WARF) in 1939 and continued his work on developing potent anticoagulants to be used as rat poison [21]. In 1940, he was able to achieve his goal with the most potent rodenticide which he named "Warfarin" [21]. It was believed that Warfarin would be extremely toxic to humans as well as rats until suicidal attempts in 1952 ended up with hospitalization followed by full recovery of the patient. Crucially, the patient was treated with Vitamin K to antagonize the effect of Warfarin [22]. Further studies demonstrated the possible use of Warfarin as a treatment in coagulation conditions [21]. Numerous studies were carried out to establish the exact effects of Warfarin on humans [22].

Reports of variable responses by humans to fixed doses of Warfarin were documented very early after its initial use [23]. Today Warfarin is the most widely prescribed oral anticoagulant worldwide due to its effectiveness, low cost and convenient oral dose [24].

Vitamin K play a role in the coagulation cascade since the reduction of vitamin K leads to the activation of clotting factors through the gama carboxylation of these coagulation proteins mostly factors II (Prothrombin), VII, IX, X, protein C and Protein S. Understandably, these proteins are called Vitamin K dependent proteins. Once they are carboxylated, they get transformed into their active forms that lead to a coagulation cascade [25].

Vitamin K reduced by Vitamin K expoxide reductase (VKOR) functions as a recycling enzyme for Vitamin K. The basic action mechanism of Warfarin is the inhibition of Vitamin K expoxide reductase (VKOR) enzyme and thus the impairing of the synthesis of clotting factors [26], as illustrated in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Effect of Warfarin on VKORC activity and Vitamin K cycle. [26].

There are two isomer forms of Warfarin, the S and the R isomers as shown in Figure 2. The S-isomer is five times more potent than the R-isomer in inhibiting VKORC [2



Figure 2. Molecular Structure of (A) S -Warfarin and (B) R- Warfarin. [27].

The effect of Warfarin therapy on a blood coagulation profile is measured by the International Normalized Ratio (INR) which is a universal conversion of prothrombin time test [28]. In 1990, the INR was adopted as an indicator to monitor Warfarin effects. INR corrects for variation that come with different thromboplastin reagents from different hospitals and laboratories worldwide, and for new batches of reagents [29].

To avoid hemorrhage (the principal adverse side effect of Warfarin), frequent monitoring and adjustment to the anticoagulant effect of the drug is necessary.

This depends on the INR result, which can be obtained by a Prothrombin Time test (PT test) for monitoring and evaluating the effect of vitamin K antagonist (VKA) therapies and is a reliable measure of extrinsic pathways of coagulation [29]. [30].

In order to achieve treatment goals with anticoagulation therapy using a Vitamin K antagonist such as Warfarin, patients need to maintain their target INR range. This goal can be achieved with regular monitoring and appropriate adjustment to a Warfarin dose [30]. Target INR intervals vary according to Warfarin indication, but in general an INR value of <2.0 is associated with increased risk of a thrombotic event while INR value of >4.0 is associated with increased risk of a bleeding crisis. Therefore, current recommendations suggesting an INR range of between 2.0 and 3.0 for patients with atrial fibrillation and venous thromboembolism [30], [31] and an INR range of 2.5-3.5 for patients with mechanical heart values [32].

Warfarin does not exert an instant effect as an antithrombotic/anticoagulant medication as several doses are required to show an effect. The delayed effect is due to pre-existing Vitamin K-dependent clotting factors that must be catabolized by the body while at the same time inhibiting the activation of newly made Vitamin Kdependent clotting factors and for total protection from thrombus formation or complications. However, the orally administered anticoagulant Warfarin can be given with a rapid acting anticoagulant such as Heparin or Low Molecular Weight Heparin [30].

Warfarin is an oral anticoagulant that is mostly prescribed to prevent the progression or recurrence of acute deep vein thrombosis or pulmonary embolism as a second option after using Heparin. It is also used to prevent venous thromboembolism during surgeries such as orthopaedic or gynecologic surgeries and as a prophylactic treatment in chronic atrial fibrillation, acute myocardial infarction, prosthetic heart valve and stroke [29], [31].

Although it is widely used, Warfarin has one major limitation. It is a drug with a low therapeutic index and is listed among the top 10 agents associated with serious side effects such as bleeding. Approximately 20% of patients using Warfarin suffer from bleeding, thromboembolic events (TEE), inpatient hospitalization and emergency admission or sometimes treatment failure and the complication of coagulation. It should always be given with safety controls as indicated on the drug label [29], [33].

Besides hemorrhages, other minor side effects have been observed such as skin lesions and necrosis. Another problem associated with Warfarin use is the numerous drug-drug interactions and its teratogenic effect. Therefore, Warfarin should never be used during pregnancy due to associated birth defects and abortion [29].

1.4 Factors Influencing Variability in Warfarin Dose Requirements

Variability in warfarin doses has been extensively documented. This variability can be attributed to combinations of genetic and non-genetic factors as detailed in the following sections.

1.4.1 Non-Genetic Factors

As already mentioned. Warfarin is a drug with a low therapeutic index and therefore, small increases in dosage may cause serious side effects while a lower than therapeutic dose will be ineffective. Maintenance doses of Warfarin required to safely achieve stable anticoagulation can vary across populations by up to twenty fold with an average dose of 5 mg/day. However, some individuals require doses of 1 mg/day or less whilst others may require up to 20 mg/day or even more to achieve the desired INR target [29]. The identification of the maintenance dose is important to avoid the risk of bleeding that comes with Warfarin use, depending on the comorbid conditions of the patient [34]. Significant efforts and research have been undertaken to avoid the development of side effects by estimating the exact safe dosage as Warfarin is the most often cited reason for mortality caused by medication [33]. It is also the second leading cause of drug emergency admissions in the United States [35]. It is worth noting that the most often cited life-threatening complications of Warfarin use are gastrointestinal bleeding and intracranial hemorrhage [36].

Many co-medications can change the required dose of Warfarin and the main mechanism is either by induction or inhibition of hepatic CYP2C9 or by competition with the plasma protein binding site for Warfarin [29]. Drugs that can induce the expression of CYP2C9 cause an increase in the enzymic action of CYP2C9 and possibly the induction of other metabolizing liver enzymes [37]. examples of such drugs include alcohol, barbiturates, glutethimide, grisofulvin, rifampin, carbamazepine, phenobarbital, phenytoin and the herbal antidepressant st. john's wort. Chronic alcohol consumption has the same action on CYP2C9 enzymic induction [29]. Patients using enzyme inducer drugs along with Warfarin require higher doses of Warfarin [38].

Other medication may cause the opposite effect on the CYP2C9 enzyme as they may inhibit its catalytic activity [38]. For example, azole antifungal medications (e.g. fluconazole and voriconazole), amiodarone, sulfamethoxazole (found in the common combination antibiotic trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole), statins (e.g. fluvastatin and lovastatin), and some antidepressants (e.g. fluvoxamine and sertraline), cimitdine, chloramaphenicol, cotrimoxazol, disuulfiram, metronidazole, phenylbuazone, and acute alcohol intoxication all have inhibitory effects on CYP2C9. Patients using a CYP2C9 inhibitor medication concomitantly with Warfarin need lower doses of the anticoagulant since the metabolism and the evacuation of Warfarin will be reduced as a result of the decrease in CYP2C9 function and thus increase the risk of an accumulation of Warfarin to toxic levels. In these cases, anticoagulant overdose is a major risk. In terms of drug-drug interactions, among all these medications, the drugs with a strong effect on Warfarin dosage are amiodarone and statins [39], [40], [29].

In order to predict Warfarin dosage the Warfarin dosing website (www.warfarindosing.com) developed an online calculator that takes into account possible factors that can cause changes in Warfarin dosage especially concomitant therapy with amiodarone, statins, azole antifungals, sulfamethoxazole and trimethoprim as factors to predict the most appropriate Warfarin dose [29].

Vitamin K deficiency, a hepatic disease that impairs a synthesis of clotting factors, any disease or medication that can impair organ function that controls Warfarin metabolism, or a hypermetabolic state that elevates Vitamin K levels depending on clotting factors and catabolism are all factors that can contribute to a hypoprothrombinemic state in patients and therefore they affect the required dose [29].

Warfarin is a water soluble molecule that is quickly absorbed after oral intake with peak plasma concentration obtained from 60 to 90 minutes and 100% bioavailability with little individual variation in bioavailability. However, food may delay absorption without affecting the extent of absorption and 99% is bound to plasma albumin and drugs with a higher affinity to a binding site for albumin like sulfonamides that can displace Warfarin from Plasma albumin leading to an elevation of Warfarin activity [29]. In addition, Lovastatin and Indomethacin compete with Warfarin for plasma protein binding sites and therefore increase the of free activity of Warfarin and potentiate its action [29].

1.4.2 Genetic Factors

There are several genetic factors that can affect a patient's Warfarin dose. Polymorphisms in cytochrome P-450 C9 (CYP2C9), the enzyme responsible for Warfarin metabolism, are major contributors. However, it was estimated that genetic variation in the gene encoding for this enzyme account for approximately 12% of the changes in the maintenance dose of Warfarin [41],[42]. In addition, genetic variation of *VKORC1*, the gene encoding Warfarin site of action (Vitamin K Epoxide Reductase), account for up to 30% of the inter-individual variation in maintenance doses [43], [44]. More details on the contribution of *VKORC1* and *CYP2C9* will be provided in the next section (1.5.).

Researchers attempted to identify other genes involved in the dose variation of Warfarin among individuals identified *CYP4F2* as a contributory factor to variations in dose. The CYP4F2 enzyme is widely distributed in human livers and other tissues. Its function is to catalyze the hydroxylation of Lipoxygenase-derived eicosanoids as well as the oxidation of Vitamin K [45]. A genetic variation in *CYP4F2* that results in the replacement of a valine amino acid at position 433 by methionine (p.V433M) leads to a decrease in the oxidation of Vitamin K. This in turn causes an elevation in the concentration of vitamin K in hepatic cells and therefore patients on Warfarin with this variant needs higher doses [46]. The total effects of *CYP4F2* on Warfarin dosage accounts for about 1-2% of the change in dose among individuals [47]–[49]. Studies on *GGCX* gene found a correlation of a microsatellite variant with Warfarin sensitivity [26]. This enzyme has a critical role in the vitamin K cycle as it catalyzes the gamma carboxylation of vitamin K dependent proteins in the coagulation cascade as shown in Figure 3.



Figure 3. Role of γ -glutamyl carboxylase (GGCX) in Vitamin K cycle [50].

GGCX catalyzes the posttranslational carboxylation of specific glutamic acid residues to γ-carboxyglutamic acid (gla) in a variety of vitamin K-dependent proteins [50].

This gene is located on chromosome 2 and encodes for gamma-glutamyl carboxylase enzyme (GGCX). Variants in *GGCX* require about 6% reduction in Warfarin dosage

and the total effect of GCCX gene accounts for <1% of the variation in Warfarin dose requirements [51].

Genotype information and clinical factors such as age and weight are important predictors in Warfarin dosing calculations to select the optimal dose for the patients at the start of therapy [52].

A different Vitamin K intake for each patient is also a factor in Warfarin sensitivity and resistance. A high intake of vitamin K reduces the response to the medication [53]. In general, Vitamin K refers to a family of vitamins K1 (Phylloquinone) and K2 (Menaquinone) that are mainly involved in human health and disease [54]. Vitamin K1 comes from dietary sources such as the green leaves of some vegetables, vegetable oils and supplements. The majority of Vitamin K stores in the human body consist of Vitamin K1 [55].

In addition, gut bacteria synthesize Vitamin K2 which has a limited role in providing the human body with daily requirement of Vitamin K in comparison to Vitamin K1. There are four main fat soluble vitamins (A, D, E and K). Vitamin K has the lowest total stores in the body hence several weeks of restricted dietary intake of Vitamin K can completely deplete all the Vitamin K stores in the body [53]. Studies on the effects of different Vitamin K intake levels on Warfarin requirements found that it is a significant contributor to variation in the initial Warfarin dose [56].

1.5 The Pharmacogenetics and Pharmacogenomics of Warfarin

1.5.1 Cytochrome P450 Enzymes

Metabolic elimination of most current drugs is largely mediated by the function of cytochrome P450 proteins. This enzyme system is encoded by many genes. The enzymes expressed are mainly found in the liver and they play key roles in drug and other xenobiotic metabolisms [57]. The CYP system is very important for the detoxification process as it eliminates foreign substances. In addition to their involvement in the metabolism of lipophilic compounds involving oxidation, the CYP system is involved in the metabolism of endogenous substrates such as sterols, steroids, eicosanoids, serotonin, bile acids, Vitamin D, retinoid, fatty acids and uroporphyrogens [57].

In every species there are 270 cytochrome P450s (CYPs). However, only 57 CYP genes and 33 pseudogenes are found in the human genome. These are organized in 18 families and 42 subfamilies. of all the CYP families only 3 families (families 1, 2 and 3) are responsible for drug metabolism. CYP2C9 constitutes approximately 18% of the total CYP protein content in the human liver [38], [58].

CYP2C9 is one of the most important enzymes in drug metabolism as it metabolizes approximately 60 drugs. There are inter-ethnic and inter-individual variations in drug metabolisms with the occurrence of genetic polymorphisms in the *CYP2C9* gene [59]–[61]. CYP2C9 is involved in the metabolism of 10-20% of all the clinically important drugs worldwide such as Warfarin and other coumarin anticoagulants. losartan, tolbutamide, sulfonylurea drugs, angiotensin ii blockers, nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs (NSAIDS), Phenytoin and glipizide [47], [60], [61]. There are four distinctive groups of CYP phenotypes arranged according to their metabolic capacity. Extensive metabolizers (EM) with regular metabolic capacity, low metabolizers (LM) with low metabolic activity, intermediate metabolizers (IM) that shows intermediate activity, while the ultra-rapid metabolizers (UM) show the highest metabolic activity group [62].

CYP2C9 polymorphisms are important determinants of the Warfarin dosage as the presence of *CYP2C9* polymorphisms is associated with a reduction in the metabolism of S-Warfarin [63], [64]. Thirty four CYP2C9 variant alleles have been reported in the world population so far (http://www.cypalleles.ki.se/). *CYP2C9**1 is a wild-type allele, and there are two important single nucleotide variations that result in missense mutations in the coding region of the *CYP2C9* gene. The *CYP2C9**2 allele (C430T in exon 3) results in the replacement of an arginine at the amino acid position 144 by cysteine (p.R144C).

This is a functionally important substitution as this mutation leads to the reduction of the catalytic activity to 12% compared to the wild-type enzyme. Additionally, the *CYP2C9**3 allele (A1075C of exon 7) leads to the substitution of a leucine residue by isoleucine at position 359 (p.L359I). This mutation is associated with a reduction in the catalytic activity to about 5% of the wild type. Studies have shown that the *CYP2C9**3 allele is associated with lower intrinsic clearance of the Warfarin substrate and a lesser enzyme activity (<5%) than CYP2C9*2. Both *CYP2C9**2 and *3 genetic variants are widespread in caucasian populations, with allele frequencies varying from 3.3% to 18% [65], [66].
As above, both *CYP2C*9*2 and *3 variants encode for enzymes with reduced catalytic activities that result in impaired hydroxylation of Warfarin compared to the wild-type CYP2C9 enzyme. Therefore, lower doses of Warfarin are required in individuals with these alleles. It was observed that a longer time is required to achieve a stable Warfarin dosage and therefore these patients are at higher risk during the initial phase of Warfarin therapy [47], [63].

In caucasian populations the frequency of the *CYP2C9**1/*1 genotype is 65-70%, the *CYP2C9**1/*2 genotype is 15-20%, the *CYP2C9**1/*3 genotype is 8-10%. Poor metabolizer genotype frequencies for CYP2C9*2/*2, *CYP2C9**3/*3 and *CYP2C9**2/*3 are between 1 and 2% each [63], [64].

1.5.2 Vitamin K Epoxide Reductase (VKORC1)

The Vitamin K epoxide reductase VKOC1 enzyme is involved in the biosynthesis of Vitamin K dependent coagulation factors through the Vitamin K regeneration process. On the other hand, Vitamin K plays a key role as a cofactor in gamma carboxylation of several clotting factors (II, VII, IX and X) and proteins C and S that are all involved in coagulation. The Vitamin K epoxide reductase VKOC1 enzyme is Warfarin sensitive and can be inhibited by preventing the Vitamin K recycling process [67]–[69] as shown in Figure 4.



Figure 4. Warfarin effect as Vitamin K anticoagulant. [44]

Warfarin inhibits Vitamin K recycling and thus preventing the formation of more Vitamin K dependent coagulation factors [44].

The *VKORC1* gene encodes the vitamin K epoxide reductase complex subunit-1, a small transmembrane protein of the endoplasmic reticulum. VKORC1 [MIM

608547] is the key enzyme of the Vitamin K cycle and the molecular site for the action of Vitamin K antagonists (Coumarins) including Warfarin. Acenocoumarol and Phenprocoumon, which are used for long-term treatment of thromboembolic diseases [44], [70].

It has been known for many years that the action of Warfarin involved Vitamin K yet without full understanding of the exact nature of its involvement until 2004. The exact molecular target of Warfarin was discovered by two independent research groups when they found a protein that was later named as Vitamin K epoxide reductase complex subunit 1 (VKORC1) [68], [71]. This gene is located on chromosome 16p11 as shown in figure 5.



Figure 5. Chromosomal location of *VKORC1* gene on the short arm of chromosome 16. [72].

The first group of researchers, Li and colleagues tested the ability of candidate genes to inhibit vitamin K epoxide reductase (VKOR) activity in human cells by using short interfering (siRNA) pools against these genes to observe gene activity. Li and colleagues expressed the gene in insect cells and described the gene as coding for a 163-amino acid protein with 3 exons. They also showed that the protein contained 1 to 3 transmembrane domains and 7 cysteine residues, 5 of which are conserved among human, mouse, rat, zebrafish, Xenopus, and Anopheles [68]. In same the year, Rost and colleagues cloned the *VKORC1* gene and described it as a gene encoding a protein of 163 amino acids with a mass of 18KDa [69]. It was mainly expressed in fetal and adult livers and to a lesser extents in fetal hearts, kidneys, lungs, adult hearts and the pancreas. The enzyme is associated with the endoplasmic reticulum [71].

Rost colleagues also studied the involvement of *VKORC1* in the combined deficiency of Vitamin-K-dependent clotting factor type 2 (VKCFD2: OMIM 607473), and resistance to Coumarin oral anticoagulant drugs (Warfarin resistance, WR; OMIM 122700). They found that it correlated with pathological conditions and Warfarin resistance [69]. In the rat, four heterozygous missense mutations in *VKORC1* were reported in Warfarin resistant cases. In addition, one homozygous point mutation in exon 3 has been found in two unrelated index cases of a combined deficiency of vitamin K-dependent clotting factor type-2 (VKCFD2) [69].

They also studied the over expression of wild-type *VKORC1* and the form carrying the VKCFD2 mutation and noticed a marked increase in VKOR activity and increasing Vitamin K production by approximately 14 to 21 times compared with untreated or mock-transfected cells [68], [69]. These discoveries helped in the understanding of Warfarin resistance in humans and rodents.

The purification of recombinant human VKORC1 protein from baculovirus-infected insect cells was reported in by Chu who demonstrated that it was possible to convert Vitamin K epoxide to Vitamin K; and Vitamin K to reduced Vitamin K through the enzymatic function of a single *VKORC1* polypeptide [73]. It was thought that

VKORC1 was subunit 1 of the enzymatically functional complex involved in Vitamin K recycling. However, it was found that the gene product of VKORC1 was enzymatically active on its own which led to the informal shorting of the name to VKOR [74].

Genetic variations in *VKORC1* was associated with significant inter-individual and inter-ethnic variability in the dosage of Vitamin K antagonists (Coumarin) [75]. Studies on *VKORC1* enhanced our understanding of the Vitamin K cycle and led to improved clinical practice [76].

1.6 The Global Prevalence of the Clinically Relevant *VKORC1* Alleles and Genotypes

It is well known that Warfarin dosage and responses are greatly affected by genetic variation in the *VKORC1* gene. In addition, genetic variation in this gene results in different phenotypes such as resistance to Warfarin (Warfarin resistance, WR) or pathological conditions known as multiple coagulation factors deficiency type 2 (VKCFD2) that can cause a rare bleeding disorder [69], [77].

The discovery of a haplotype structure in the human genome and the ability to define SNPs, facilitated genotyping studies at significantly reduced costs. There is a need to take into account not only differences between the genotypes of individuals but the differences in genotypes between different populations to improve health care [78].

In Warfarin resistant patients, several rare mutations in the *VKORC1* gene lead to amino acid changes in VKORC1 proteins. These rare mutations are not reported in the general population [69].

The genetic basis of the large inter-individual variability among Warfarin patients investigated by Rieder, who described the coding region variants of *VORC1* that are highly detrimental and cannot explain Warfarin dosage variation [79].

In addition, a study was conducted to determine whether polymorphisms in noncoding regions of the *VKORC1* contribute to variability in the maintenance dose of Warfarin and found that SNPs in non-coding regions are associated with Warfarin dosages across the normal dose range (2 to 10 mg per day) [79]. This opened the door to further study other regulatory polymorphisms in the *VKORC1* that could possibly change Warfarin dosage requirements. Consequently, SNPs in the *VKORC1* non-coding region were found in various populations [79], as illustrated in figure 6.



Figure 6. *VKORC1* gene structure with the relevant non-coding variants.

The mechanism of how these SNPs in non-coding affect Warfarin dosage variability were thought to be through the effect on the mRNA levels [79].

The first SNP (C6484T, rs9934438 (608547.0008) or 1173C>T) was reported to associate with low Warfarin doses. This SNP is located in the first intronic region of the *VKORC1* gene and the wild type C/C genotype requires significantly higher doses compared to the T/T genotype [43].

This variant is in near perfect linkage disequilibrium with promoter region variant G3673A (rs9923231) [43]. Since the frequency of C6484T is approximately similar, if not identical, to the frequency of G3673A, some researchers consider this variant inert but it is still used frequently in haplotype determination of the *VKORC1* gene as marker of SNP [52].

Warfarin sensitivity in patients with lower doses is frequently associated with promoter region single nucleotide polymorphism -1639G-A (608547.0006). On the other hand, *VKORC1* variant rs7294 (G9041A), or 3730G>A are reported to be associated with Warfarin resistance in patients who need higher doses compare to the wild type [66].

Two SNPs in the non-coding region of the *VKORC1* gene, rs9934438 (608547.0008) and rs9923231 (608547.0006), were the best predictors of Warfarin dosage through transcriptional mechanisms that alters expressions of the Warfarin target receptor *VKORC1* [79]–[81]

The-1639G-A (rs9923231) variation is associated with lower Warfarin dosages, Warfarin sensitivity and higher risks of bleeding [66]. Individuals with the A/A genotype (group A, haplotype 2* mainly) required a lower dose than those with the A/G or G/G genotypes. The G allele comes with a 44% increase in activity when compared with the A allele [82].

The rs7294 (G9041A), is a variant associated with high warfarin dosages that occurs at the 3'UTR of *VKORC1* gene [43], [83]. It does not usually occur with the 1173C>T and 3673G>A variant allele haplotype [43].

A patients with (rs9923231) and 1173T (rs9934438) variant allele was reported to have a low dose of about 24-26 mg/week while patients with wild type required a dose of 36mg/week [26].

A high dosage reported for patients with (rs7294) allele variants of approximately 40 mg/week as a mean dose [26], [83]. This indicates the effect of *VKORC1* in non-coding variants on Warfarin pharmacodynamics studies that concluded that *VKORC1* variation can explain 25% of the variability in Warfarin dosage [79].

A significant correlation of the relevant SNPs in the *VKORC1* with approximately 30% of Warfarin dosage variation has been determined in a genotyping study of 201 patients using Warfarin. These findings indicate that the *VKORC1* genetic variation plays a greater role in dose requirements compared to *CYP2C9* which explains only 12% of the variation in dose requirements [26]. SNPs in non-coding regions of the *VKORC1* gene classify Warfarin patients according to their required dose of Warfarin to safely achieve the target INR [79].

According to this classification, patients with SNP (rs9923231) have low Warfarin dose-requirement with approximately 2.7 mg per day for the A/A genotype that is mostly distributed in Asian Americans. High dosage groups with rs7294, A/A genotype need 6.2 mg per day which is widely distributed among African Americans and an intermediate dose of 4.9 mg per day for patients with heterozygosity in both SNPs (rs7294 and rs9923231) [79]. There are continuous efforts to identify *VKORC1* haplotypes but the nomenclature is still varied [79].

1.7 Warfarin Usage in the UAE

There are a limited number of clinical research studies on Warfarin usage in the UAE and no pharmacogenetics studies so far. There was a study in 2012 conducted in Al-Ain to evaluate patient and staff compliance with Warfarin usage guidelines and to assess the overall practice and patient outcome [84]. The authors reported that at Al-Ain Hospital, each year there are 800 cases (~27 new) of patients on Warfarin including Emiratis and expatriates. Indications for Warfarin usage among those patients were 35% for atrial fibrillation, 28% for deep vein thrombosis. 20% for prosthetic heart valves and 12% for stroke and dilated cardiomyopathy.

The authors found that regular INR monitoring was carried out for only 23% of the patients. They also found that 73% of the patients had a stable INR while 20% had a high INR and 7% had lower values than the therapeutic target. 22% of patients have been admitted to the emergency ward from Warfarin patients with 9% of the cases unrelated to Warfarin use. In addition, side effects such as abnormal bleeding have been frequently reported among patients with a high INR. Furthermore, hematemesis was reported for 25.3%, shaving cuts for 21.8%, bleeding gums for 19.9%, bleeding wound for 14.6% and melena in 11.3% of the patients [84].

A lack of genetic studies related to Emiratis on Warfarin prompted us to carry out this project.

CHAPTER 2: STUDY RATIONALE, AIM AND OBJECTIVES

2.1 Rationale

Warfarin is a drug with a low therapeutic index where small dose changes may result in serious side effects or treatment failure. It is well known that the genetic makeup of the individual contributes to their response to medication including Warfarin. A significant proportion of patients receiving the standard dose of Warfarin may either not respond to treatment or exhibit bleeding as a side effects. Genetic variations in the *VKORC1* gene play a major role in Warfarin dosages and are responsible for about 30% of the dose variation. Therefore, it can be considered to be the major genetic determinant. Despite their importance for determining the optimal starting dose for patients, no genetic studies have been carried out on Emiratis in relations to Warfarin use. Therefore, the purpose of this thesis is to start to fill this gap in our knowledge for the local Emirati population.

2.2 Aim and Objectives

2.2.1 Aim

Identify the alleles and genotypes frequencies among Emiratis for two important SNPs (rs9923231 and rs7294) in the *VKORC1*, the gene encoding the cellular target for Warfarin treatment.

2.2.2 Objectives

To achieve the above aim, the thesis objectives are:

1. Recruit and obtain blood samples from healthy Emirati donors and patients receiving Warfarin as part of their healthcare.

2. Isolate and quantify genomic DNA from each subject using standard molecular techniques.

3. Genotype those samples for two SNPs, rs9923231 and rs7294 SNPs, in the *VKORC1* gene using PCR and direct Sanger DNA sequencing.

4. Determine the SNPs allele and genotype frequencies among healthy Emiratis subjects and patients receiving Warfarin.

5. Correlate the determined allele and genotype frequencies with drug response in patients.

6. Generate genetic data that might be deposited/ shared with health care providers in the UAE and/or with international databases.

CHAPTER 3: MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Blood Sampling

Blood samples were collected from two groups: the first group consisted of 96 unrelated UAE nationals who suffered from a coagulation disorder and are being treated with Warfarin as part of their care. This group of subjects was recruited from patients attending the INR clinic at Tawam Hospital, Al-Ain, UAE. The second group consisted of 117 healthy Emirati subjects from Al-Ain and Abu Dhabi.

All the individuals had read the information sheet and signed informed consent forms to participate in the study. About 10ml of peripheral venous blood was collected. Five ml of the blood sample was placed in an EDTA tube (containing an anticoagulant) to be genotyped. The subjects also completed a questionnaire and their medical files were reviewed to examine the fulfillment of the inclusion/exclusion criteria. This study protocol was carried out at the laboratories of the College of Medicine and Health Sciences at UAE University. In addition, it was approved by the ethical committee for human research in the Al-Ain District (CRD 261-Protocol No. 13/38).

3.2. Extraction of DNA from Peripheral Leukocytes

Deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA) was extracted from an ethylene-diamine-tetra- acetic acid (EDTA)-anticoagulated blood using a whole blood extraction kit (Flexigene DNA isolation kit (250)- Applied Biosystems). The isolated genomic DNA was stored in sterile vials at 4 °C until analyzed. DNA samples were kept at -20 °C for long term storage.

3.3. Primers Design

Primers for amplifying the relevant parts of the *VKORC1* gene were designed using primer3 http://primer3.ut.ee and were custom made by Metabion Inc (http://www.metabion.com). The list of PCR and sequencing primers are listed in Table 1.

SNP	Forward Primer	Reverse Primer
rs9923231	3'GCCAGCAGGAGAGGGAAATA5	3'AGTTTGGACTACAGGTGCCT5'
rs7294	3'GGCTTACGCACGTATTCC5'	3'GGTTCAGACTTGGCTGATTG5'

Table 1. Sequences of the oligonuceloetide primers used for the PCR amplification and genotyping of the two *VKORC1* SNPs

3.4 Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

PCR amplification (thermal cycling) conditions were as follows: a single denaturation cycle of 5 minutes at 95 °C followed by 40 cycles of 95 °C for 2 minutes. The exact annealing temperatures and times are listed in table 2 and then at 72 °C for 2 minutes. This was followed by a single cycle of 7 minutes at 72 °C.

Primer Name	Annealing Temperature (°C)	Annealing Time (Sec)	Product Size (pb)
rs9923231	58	30	290
rs7294 60		45	659

Table 2. Annealing temperatures optimization and expected product sizes.

3.5 Analysis of PCR Amplicons by Agarose Gel Electrophoresis .

The two VKORC1 specific products (amplicons) from each subject were separated by 0.6% agarose gel electrophoresis to ensure a good DNA quality was produced before sequencing. The promoter region SNP (rs9923231) is expected to produce DNA band (A)of 290 bp whereas SNP (rs7294) will give a Size of 659 bp (B) as presented in Figure 7



Figure 7. Agarose electrophoresis analysis of representative PCR reactions for the two SNPS and primers of experiment and their approximate base pairs sizes.

3.6 DNA Sequencing

DNA was sequenced using a dideoxy sequencing (chain termination of Sanger) method with a 3130Xl Genetic Analyzer (applied Biosystems). The procedure involved cleaning up the PCR reactions using an Exo-SAP-IT treatment prior to Sanger DNA sequencing.

3.6.1 ExoSap-IT Treatment

The ExoSAP–IT was used for cleaning up the PCR products. This technique has been shown to be suitable for cleaning up PCR products of less than 100 bp to over than 20kb without any sample loss, by removing the unused excess primers and nucleotides through a degradation by enzyme action. The method in this experiment was carried out by $1.25 \,\mu$ l of purified PCR product to undergo enzymatic purification with 0.5 μ l of an ExoSAP –IT enzyme mixture at 37 °C for 15 minutes. This was followed by heating at 80 °C for 15 minutes to inactivate the exonuclease and SAP enzymes.

3.6.2 DNA Cycle Sanger Sequencing

The cycle sequencing was carried out by preparing a sequencing mix containing 1µl (3.2 pmol) of sequencing primers, 4µl of ready reaction premix 2.5X (Big Dye Terminator Cycle Sequencing Kit Applied Biosystems), 1 µl of BigDye Terminator v.3.1 sequencing buffer (5X) and 20ng/ ml template, miliQ water was added to form 20µl reaction. The tubes were placed in a thermal cycler and an initial denaturation step was performed with a rapid thermal ramp to 96 °C for 1 minute, then the following steps were repeated up to 25 cycles:

- A.rapid thermal ramp to 96 °c (96 °c for 10 seconds).
- A rapid thermal ramp to 50 °c (50 °c for 5 seconds).
- A rapid thermal ramp to 60 °c (60 °c for 4 minutes).
- A rapid thermal ramp to 4° c.
- Purification of the sequencing products.

3.6.3 DNA Sequencing Purification Step

If the dye terminators are not removed completely before the electrophoresis step, the signal from the dyes will be obscured due to an excess of DNTPs. This method is suitable when using Big Dye Terminators v3.1 as it produces consistent signaling and it is good at getting a 20μ l sequencing reaction in 96-well reaction plates following a brief spinning after removing the reaction from the thermal cycler. 5μ l of

125 mm EDTA is added to the 60 μ l of 100% ethanol in each well and the mixture is sealed and inverted 4 times before being incubated for 15 minutes at room temperature. This was then immediately centrifuged at 3000 xg for 30 minutes (Sigma 2-16 pk) and the plate was inverted and spun at up to 185 xg then removed from the centrifuge. A 60 μ l of 70% ethanol was also added to each well then spun again at 1650 x g for 15 minutes with the centrifuge set at 4 °C. This was followed by inversion and spinning up to 185xg for 1 minutes before removal from the centrifuge.

3.6.4 Formamide Treatment

Hi-Di Formamide is a highly deionized formamide formulated with stabilizers and ready for use as an injecting solvent in DNA analysis methods. The samples were resuspended in 15 μ l formamide (Hi-Di TM formamide, Applied Biosystems), denaturated at 95 °C for 2 minutes and then kept on ice for 2 minutes until sequencing.

3.6.5 Sequencing Data Interpretation and Genotype Calling

For each patient the chromatograms of the nucleotide sequence were aligned with the original *VKORC1* sequence (ENST00000394975) using the chromas lite program in order to detect the presence of SNPS/mutations as well as to define each patient's genotype.

3.7 Statistical Analysis

SSPS and Graph Pad programs were used to apply selected statistical analysis; we used chi-square tests for non-parametric variables to compare between frequency results, while multiple linear regression models, ANOVA and Spearman analysis were used to study dose-genotype relations.

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS

4.1 Description of Study Sample

This study involved two groups of UAE nationals. The first group included 117 unrelated healthy subjects as controls and the second group consisted of 96 patients who were on Warfarin treatment for at least two months. Patient characteristics are summarized in table 3.

	Median Age	64 year
Ago	Average Age	59 year
Age	Standard Deviation (SD)	19.73 year
Gender	Male	48(50%)
	Female	48(50%)
	Atrial Fibrillation	46(48%)
	Deep Vein Thrombosis	15(16%)
	Valve Replacement	26(27%)
	Antiphospholipid Syndrome	3(3%)
Indication of	Cardio Vascular Shunt	1(1%)
Warlarin	Cerebella Ataxia	1(1%)
	Artery Thrombosis	1(1%)
	Pulmonary Embolism	2(2%)
	Valve Disease	1(1%)

Table 3. Characteristics of the recruited patients

Informed consent was obtained from each participant. This study was approved by the ethics committees of each participating institution. Patient information (indicators of Warfarin use, maintenance doses and INR values etc.) were collected from Tawam Hospital medical records as of 23/09/2014. In this study we recruited equal numbers of patients of both genders: 48 females and 48 males. The mean age was 64 and the median age was 59. The age ranged from 17 to 99 years with a standard deviation of 19.73 years.

Warfarin was prescribed for patients for different pathological conditions with Atrial Fibrillation (AFIB) at 48%; Deep Vein Thrombosis (DVT) at 15%; Antiphosholipid Syndrome (APS) at 3%; After Mitral Valve Replacement (MVR) and Aortic Valve Replacement (AVR) for 27%; 2% for Pulmonary Embolism (PE), while Valve Disease, Arterial Thrombosis, Cerebella Ataxia, Cardio Vascular Shunt each constituted 1% of the total use of Warfarin.

The target INR range for 67% of the patients was 2.5-3.5; 32% with an INR target range of 2 -3 where only 1% have a target range of 1.5-2.

The average Warfarin dosage of patients was 4.7 mg/day with an SD of 2.47 and a median dose of 4.5 mg/day. The highest dosage was 15 mg/day and the minimum dose was 0.5 mg/day.

4.2. VKORC1 Genotype and Allele Frequencies

Using PCR amplification and direct DNA sequencing, we genotyped each subject from both groups for two *VKORC1* gene variants relevant to Warfarin dosage. The two variants are the promoter region variant rs9923231 and the 3' UTR region variant rs7294, as listed in table 4.

SNIP	Nucleotide position		Nucleotide	Gene region	
SINI	Genomic	cDNA			
rs9923231	3673	c1639	G>A	Promoter	
rs7294	9041	492+134	G>A	3'-region	

Table 4. Description of the studied polymorphisms (SNPs) of the *VKORC1* gene. (cDNA: coding DNA, rs: reference subgroup)

Rs7294 was selected as per the literature due to its key role in Warfarin resistance cases, while variant SNP rs9923231 was selected as per the USA Food and Drug Administration (FDA) recommendations [85]; as shown in table 5.

Drug Link in Drugs@FDA	Referenced Subgroup	Labeling Sections with Pharmacogenomic Information
Warfarin	<i>VKORC1</i> rs9923231 A allele carriers	Dosage and Administration Clinical Pharmacology

Table 5. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) labeling recommendations for Warfarin

4.2.1 Determination of the *VKORC1* rs9923231 Genotypes and Alleles Frequencies

VKORC1 rs9923231 SNP genotype and allele frequencies among patients and

controls are presented in table 6.

The second		Controls	Patients	UAE
 P002293 		N=117	N=96	N=213
	a water	(%)	(%)	(%)
	GG	30(25.6)	24(25)	54(25)
Genotypes	GA	58(49.6)	46(47.9)	104(49)
	AA	29(24.8)	26(27.1)	55(26)
Alleles	G	118(50.4)	94(49)	212(49.8)
2 - 193 12	А	116(49.6)	98(51)	214(50.2)

Table 6. Genotypes and alleles frequencies among patients and controls for rs9923231 .(N indicates the total number of study subjects in both controls and patients)

We compared the percentage of the three genotypes (GG, GA and AA) between both groups (control and patients) as listed in table 7

	Controls	Patients
Genotype	n=117	n=96
GG	55.6%	44.4%
GA	55.8%	44.2%
AA	52.7%	47.3%

Table 7. Percentage of rs9923231 SNP Genotypes among both groups, controls and patients.

(N indicates the total number of study subjects in both controls and patients)

There are no statistically significant differences in the prevalence of GG. GA. AA genotypes for rs9923231 between the control group and the patients. We used a chi-square test to investigate (chi-square= 0.1459, df = 2, p-value = 0.9296). The aim of this test was to investigate if there was a difference in genotype frequencies between healthy control groups and patients.

The genotype frequencies of rs9923231 in the 213 UAE participants are presented in (table 6). They show that the genotypes GG and AA have similar distributions of 25% and 26% respectively. On the other hand, the heterozygous genotype GA frequency was 49 %. The allele frequencies for rs9923231 variants are presented in Table 6 with almost equal frequencies of 49.8% for the G allele and 50.2% for the A alleles.*VKORC1* rs9923231 SNP genotype frequencies among patients and control subjects are presented graphically in Figure 8.



Figure 8. Graphical presentation of genotype frequencies among patients and control for rs9923231.

In addition, we compared the results from this study to data from other populations as listed in table 8

VKORCI SNP	Genotype	UAE n=213	Saudi n=131 [86]	lran n=81 [87]	China n=178 [88]	Caucasian n=22 [89]	Indian n=43 [90]
G-1639A	GG	25	37.4	15.8 7	0.6	31.8	83.8
	GA	49	39.7	57.1 4	15.7	50.0	9.50
	АА	26	22.9	26.9 8	83.7	18.2	6.80
Alleles	G	49.8	57	44.4	8.42	56.82	88.4
Frequency	А	50.2	42.7	55.6	91.57	43.18	11.6

Table 8. Ethnic distribution of rs9923231 Genotypes and alleles in various populations.

The graphic representation of ethnic distributions of rs9923231 genotype

frequencies is shown in figure 9 and allele frequencies in figure 10



Figure 9. Ethnic distribution of rs9923231 genotypes



Figure 10. Ethnic distribution of the rs9923231 alleles

We used a chi-square test (nonparametric test for discrete variables) to compare the differences between the allele frequencies in populations shown in table 8; the value of p<0.05 was considered as statistically significant. Statistical analyses were performed applying the Graph Pad program. The UAE population when compared to the Chinese Population had a p value of <0.001. The UAE population when compared to the Indian Population had a p of <0.001. For the other populations, there were no significance differences in allele frequencies

4.2.2 Determination of the VKORC1 rs7294 Genotype and Allele Frequencies

VKORC1 rs7294 SNP genotype and allele frequencies among patients and control subjects are presented in table 9..

		Controls	Patients	UAE
SNP	Genotype	N=117	N=96	N=213
		(%)	(%)	(%)
C00.11.4	GG	54(46.2)	40(41.7)	94(44)
rs7294	GA	46(39.3)	48(50)	94(44)
	АА	17(14.5)	8(8.3)	25(12)
Alleles	G	154(66)	128(66.7)	282(66)
Frequency	А	80(34)	64(33.3)	144(34)

Table 9. Genotype and Allele frequency for rs7294 for controls and patients.

We compared the percentage of the three genotypes (GG, GA and AA) for rs7294 between both groups (control and patients) as listed in table 10.

Canatura	Controls	Patients
Genotype	n=117	n=96
GG	57.4 %	42.6 %
GA	48.9 %	51.1 %
AA	68.0 %	32.0 %

Table 10. Percentage of rs7294 SNP genotypes among both control and patient groups.

(N= total number of subjects in both control and patient groups)





The genotype frequency of rs7294 for the total study sample of 213 UAE locals is shown in table 9. It shows differences in the distribution of the homozygous GG and AA genotypes with frequencies of 44% and 12%, respectively. On the other hand,

the heterozygous GA genotype is in equal distribution with the homozygous genotype 44 %. Allele frequencies are shown in table 9 with the G allele being present at frequency of 66%, while the A allele is present at a frequency of 34%. We compared results from this study to data from other populations as listed in table 11.

VKORCI SNP	Genotype	UAE n=213	Chinese n=551 [91]	Caucasian n=23 [89]	Indian n=43 [90]
C00.11.4	GG	44	81.3	43.5	8.1
rs7294	GA	44	18.3	47.8	18.9
	AA	12	0.4	8.7	73
Alleles	G	66	90.5	67.4	18.6
Frequency	А	34	9.5	32.6	81.4

Table 11. Ethnic distribution of the rs7294 genotypes and alleles frequencies.

Graphic representation of ethnic distribution of rs7294 genotype frequencies is shown in figure 12 and the allele frequencies in figure 13.



Figure 12. Ethnic distribution of rs7294 genotypes



Figure 13. Ethnic distribution of rs7294 alleles.

We used a chi-square test (nonparametric test for discrete variables) to compare the differences between the allele frequencies in populations as shown in table 11.The value of p<0.05 was considered as statistically significant. Statistical analyses were performed applying the Graph Pad program.

The UAE population when compared with the Indian and Han-Chinese population had a p<0.001.There were no significance differences in allele frequencies with European populations.

4.3 The Rs9923231 and Rs7294 *VKORC*1 Variants Genotypes Associated with Warfarin Doses Among Emirati Patients

A Spearman correlation coefficient statistical analysis was selected to test the correlation coefficient in each SNP.

We used the Graph Pad to study the correlation between each SNPs and the daily maintenance Warfarin dose for patients included in this study. In summary, both SNPs shows significant correlations with dosages (P<0.05) as shown in figures 14 for rs9923231 genotypes and figure 15 for rs7294 genotypes.



Figure 14. Spearman Correlation Coefficient between rs9923231 genotypes and daily Warfarin dosage.



Figure 15. Spearman Correlation Coefficient between rs7294 genotypes and daily Warfarin dose.

We used a scatter Plot to graphically represent each genotypes relation to dosage. Both SNPs were correlated significantly to daily Warfarin dosage (P-value<0.05) as shown in figures 16 and 17.



Figure 16. Scatter Plot representation of rs9923231 genotype relation to daily Warfarin dose (*** means P-value < 0.05).

The GG genotype shows a higher dosage compared to GA and a lesser dosage to the AA genotype. While for rs7294 the higher dose is associated with the AA genotype.



Figure 17. Scatter Plot representation of rs7294 genotype relation to daily Warfarin doses (*** means P-value < 0.05).

In addition, we used a Boxplot method to represent patient dose variation in relation to genotype and to show the dispersion (the spread) of doses among each genotype for SNPs. This data is shown in figures 18 and 19.



Figure 18. Boxplot of mean daily Warfarin doses for different *VKORC1* genotypes (SNP rs9923231).

The horizontal line indicates the median; the box covers 25–75% percentiles. Points outside this show up as outliers. In all 96 individuals were genotyped for rs9923231 genotyping. The maintenance dose of Warfarin was related significantly to genotype since AA genotype required a lesser dose compared to the intermediate dose for a GA genotype and a relatively higher dose compared to the GG genotype.





The horizontal line indicates the median, the box covers 25–75% percentiles. Points outside this show up as outliers. In all 96 individuals were genotyped for rs7294 genotyping. The maintenance dose of Warfarin was related significantly to genotype since GG genotypes required a lesser dose compared to an intermediate dose for GA genotypes and a relatively higher dose for AA genotype carrying patients.

Furthermore, we used a multiple liner regression analysis, where daily Warfarin dosages in milligrams (mg) was the dependent variable and the genotype was an independent variable and controlling for other factors such as age and gender. Using *VKORC1* rs9923231 genotypes, age, and gender.

Linear regression analysis shows that there is significant relationship between the rs9923231 SNP genotypes (AA, GA and GG).

The average dose for AA genotypes is (2.61 mg /day SD 1.022), for the GA genotype it is (4.74 mg/day SD 1.72) and for GG genotype it is (7 mg/day SD 2.796). the average age of patients was 59 (SD 19).

We found that there was a significant relationship between age and dosage (P-value < 0.01) but to a lesser extent than for genotype while no relationship with gender to daily Warfarin dose (P-value = 1). This data is shown in table 12.

Variable	Daily dose P value	
AA	< 0.001	
GA	< 0.001	
GG	< 0.001	
Age	< 0.01	
Gender	1	

Table 12. Multiple linear regression models with rs9923231 genotypes, age, and gender.

(Multiple R-squared: 0.477, adjusted R-squared: 0.4541, degree of freedom (DF): 91, p-value: 3.518e-12. F-statistic: 20.75)

For rs7294 we also used a multiple linear regression model and results are shown in table 13
Factors	Daily dose P-Value
GG	>0.001
GA	>0.001
AA	>0.001
Age	>0.001
Gender	1

Table 13. Multiple linear regression models with rs2794 genotypes, age, and gender. (Multiple R-squared: 0.2797, adjusted R-squared: 0.248, F-statistic: 8.832 on 4, p-value: 4.525e-06).

Using a linear model where dose is the dependent variable and rs2794 genotypes are the independent variable, and controlling for other factors such as age and gender, we found that there was a significant relationship between the rs7294 SNP genotype and the dose taken (P-value = 0.0003). The average Warfarin dose required for the GG genotype is 3.6 mg/day (SD 2.5), the GA genotype is 5.3 mg/day (SD 2) and for the AA genotype it was 6.7 mg/day (SD 2.6). Age significantly correlated to dose (Pvalue >0.001) while gender was found not to be correlated (P>1).

CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS

Allele and genotype frequencies for SNPs rs9923231 and rs7294 in the *VKORC1* gene were found to be in a Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium among the study sample of 213 UAE nationals. There were no significance differences in the prevalence of GG, GA and AA genotypes for rs9923231 variants between the patients and control groups as determined by a chi-square test (p-value = 0.9296). Similarly there was no significant difference between the two group for the rs7294 variant (chi-square test for GG, GA and AA genotypes (p-value = 0.1842). This means, as expected, that both SNPs distributed equally between control and patient groups without any significant difference associated with any pathological condition.

The genotype frequency for the rs9923231 variant in the total study sample of 213 local UAE participants for homozygous GG and AA are presented in Figure 8 and Table 6. They show similar distributions of 25% and 26% respectively while the distribution of the heterozygous GA genotype was higher at 49%. Allele frequencies for rs9923231 are shown in Table 6 and indicate no differences in G and A allele frequencies at 49.8% and 50.2%, respectively.

The genotypes frequency for the rs7294 variant in the total study sample of 213 subjects is shown in table 9 and indicates some differences in the distribution of homozygous genotypes (GG and AA) of 44% and 12%, respectively, while the heterozygous GA genotype is in equal distribution with homozygous genotype at 44%. We found that the allele frequency for G (66%) more than for the A allele (34%) as shown in table 9.

Warfarin dosages vary among Emirati patients with doses ranging from 0.5 mg to 15 mg of Warfarin per day (figure 16, and figure 17). This wide variation in dose

requirements is a major justification for carrying out this type of genetic study among Emiratis. Genetic causes are likely to be contribution factor in a significant proportion of this variability, as demonstrated by many studies on Warfarin dosage [92]. Genotypes for *VKORC1* SNPs correlate significantly with daily Warfarin doses according to the results of this study (figures 14 and15). The rs9923231 and rs7294 are closely associated with dosage with a p-value of < 0.001 for both SNPs (figures 14 and15). Therefore, we can conclude that the rs9923231 and rs2794 are good predictors of Warfarin maintenance dosage as shown in the Boxblot analysis in figures 18 and 19. For the rs9923231 homozygous AA genotype a smaller dose is required (2.6 mg/day, SD 1.022) compared to the heterozygous GA genotype (4.75 mg/day, SD 1.7). A higher dose is required for the homozygous GG genotype (7 mg/day, SD 2.7) with a P-value < 0.0001(3.518e-12).

A recent study in Al- Ain evaluated the effects of other factors such as age, gender, body mass index (BMI), indications of Warfarin treatment, patient compliance in maintaining stable INR indicators of correct dosage, etc. They found that gender, and BMI have no effect while age, co-morbid status, and compliance were found to significantly affect the coagulation profile of patients [84]. Although age and gender both have been studied in previous studies, we included it in this study to show have direct effect on dosage but not on INR. In our study age significantly affected Warfarin dosage as demonstrated by the multiple regression model of analysis (tables 12, 13). Gender on the other hand had no significance effect (table 12, 13).

Generally there is a focus on rs9923231 (-1639 G/A) variant which is located at the second nucleotide of an E-box (CANNTG) of the 5' untranslated regions (5'UTR) of the *VKORC1* gene [82]. This variant plays a key role on the activity of the promoter

region of the *VKORC1* gene and it is believed to be a causative SNP for low dose requirement phenotypes in some patients [52]. The activity of the G allele is 44% higher than the A allele in this position [82]. Polymorphism in rs9923231(-1639 G/A) shows an interference with the mRNA expression in liver samples since it is associated with variable levels of mRNA. The A allele disturbs the binding of transcription factors to the *VKORC1* gene promoter region leading to a decrease in active mature copies of the *VKORC1* protein activity [82].

According to the literature, patients with the G allele require a daily dose of 5 mg/day compared to 3.5-3.7 mg/ day for patients with the A allele [26]. In our study daily doses of Warfarin were approximately 2.6 for homozygous patients with the A allele and approximately 7 mg/day for patients with the homozygous G allele (Figures 16 and 18).

Another study has reported that patients with the A allele have a Warfarin dose ranging from 2.9 up to 3 mg per day, while patients with the homozygous G allele range from 5.5 up to 6 mg/day [79].

The frequencies of the rs9923231 (-1639 G/A) genotypes and alleles have been widely studied in different populations [52]. For example, 90% of the Asian population have the A allele and therefore patients of Asian origin require lower doses of Warfarin [52]. On the other hand, 40% of some caucasian populations have the A allele. It was postulated that rs9923231 is the best predictor of Warfarin dose requirements especially in the initial stages of Warfarin therapy [79].

It is worth mentioning that the rs9923231 variant is the only SNP mentioned in FDA recommendations for labeling Warfarin leaflets amongst all the other important SNPs in the *VKORC1* gene. However, many studies have shown the importance of

other non-coding SNPs in the *VKORC1*. However, these SNPs are mostly in perfect linkage disequilibrium with rs9923231 [79]. Based on several studies, the FDA has recommended genetic testing on Warfarin for the *VKORC1*. rs9923231, A allele carriers and for the *CYP2C9* gene haplotype

(http://www.fda.gov/drugs/scienceresearch/researchareas/pharmacogenetics/ucm083 378.htm) [85].

Another SNP located in the 3'UTR of the*VKORC1* rs7294 or as it called in the literature G9041A, or 3730G>A. It is not correlated with any other SNP in *theVKORC1* gene [79]. Generally this SNP is not found in the same haplotypes as the G3673A. This is the reason for selecting this SNP in our study although it was not recommended by the FDA. Patients with rs7294 alternative variants may require higher doses of Warfarin [43].

In this current study, rs7294 as shown in figure 15 and figure 17 for the homozygous AA genotype, required higher doses (6.7 mg/day, SD 2.6), while the heterozygous GA genotype required 5.3 mg/day, (SD 2) a lesser dose was required for homozygous GG genotypes (3.61 mg/day SD 2.5) With a P-value of < 0.0001 (0.0003). Therefore, findings in this study support previously published data confirming a higher dose requirement for individuals with the homozygous A allele genotype (5.7 mg/ day) [26].

It was suggested that 6-37% of the variation in Warfarin dosage among individuals is due to SNPs in the *VKORC1* gene [79], [81], [85]. It was well documented that the *VKORC1* polymorphism highly influences Warfarin dosage and in some cases may

cause resistance at the A allele in rs7294 variants or sensitivity with A alleles of the rs9923231 variant [79], [81].

This is first genetic study among Emiratis regarding *VKORC1* allele and genotype frequencies. Our data suggests that SNPs are very important for Warfarin maintenance dosage and therefore they are likely to be of clinical significance (Figures 14 and 15).

Different ethnic groups require different Warfarin doses. For instance Chinese individuals, on average, require lower dose compared to African Americans [93], [94].

There have been many trials on new medication to replace Warfarin since its approval in 1954. This is mainly because of the many reports of side effects observed in patients receiving this medication. However, surveillance studies on complications and pharmaco-epidemiology of Warfarin are not currently available in the UAE. There is generally a lack of drug-drug and food-drug interaction studies locally. For instance, it was not easy to find reported cases of side effects associated with Warfarin treatment, such as Inpatient hospitalization due to Warfarin, patient' outcomes in selecting a dosage of Warfarin depending on non-genetic factors in Emiratis. Our data indicates that genotyping will be useful and most probably cost effective when initiating Warfarin treatment.

The two variants tested are useful but a clearer and more accurate picture can be observed if other parts of the *VKORC1* gene and CYP2C9 gene are studied in more depth in Emiratis. It is also important to look at non-genetic factors involved in Warfarin dose requirements among Emiratis such as lifestyle, diet, chronic use of other medications, food supplements and herbal remedies used by the local population.

Our data indicates that pharmacogenetic testing of rs9923231 and rs7294 variants is highly relevant to the maintenance of Warfarin dosage among Emirati patients on this medication. Implementation of genetic testing, at least for these two variants, is likely to have a direct effect with potential benefits to the patients and healthcare system in UAE. This is also likely to have a direct impact on patient safety and reduce suffering and cost.

The evidence provided here demonstrates that genetic factors in the *VKORC1* gene are significant contributors to Warfarin dosage and, as a result may be employed to reduce the risk of developing side effects such as bleeding or thrombosis.

Having said that, we believe that it is important to sequence the rest of the *VKORC1* gene to study the haplotypes and perhaps examine for the presence of private variants in this gene among Emiratis. It is also important to study the variants of the *CYP2C9* gene.

In conclusion, this is the first study reporting the influence of genetic factors such as *VKORC1* polymorphisms (rs9923231 and rs7294) in Emiratis. We also report the frequencies of alleles and genotypes of these SNPs allowing us to compare with other populations which might be useful for genealogical studies.

BIBLIOGROPHY

- J. Brockmöller and M. V Tzvetkov, "Pharmacogenetics: data, concepts and tools to improve drug discovery and drug treatment.," *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.*, vol. 64, no. 2, pp. 133–57, Feb. 2008.
- [2] W. Kalow, B. K. Tang, and L. Endrenyi, "Hypothesis: comparisons of interand intra-individual variations can substitute for twin studies in drug research.," *Pharmacogenetics*, vol. 8, no. 4, pp. 283–9, Aug. 1998.
- [3] J. C. Venter, M. D. Adams, E. W. Myers, P. W. Li, R. J. Mural, G. G. Sutton, D. Wu, M. Wu, A. Xia, A. Zandieh, and X. Zhu, "The sequence of the human genome.," *Science*, vol. 291, no. 5507, pp. 1304–51, Feb. 2001.
- [4] K. B. Ahluwalia, *Genetics*, Second. New Delhi, DEL, India: New Age International, 2009.
- [5] J. L. Hartman, B. Garvik, and L. Hartwell, "Principles for the buffering of genetic variation.," *Science*, vol. 291, no. 5506, pp. 1001–4, Feb. 2001.
- [6] M. Ingelman-Sundberg, M. Oscarson, and R. A. McLellan, "Polymorphic human cytochrome P450 enzymes: an opportunity for individualized drug treatment.," *Trends Pharmacol. Sci.*, vol. 20, no. 8, pp. 342–9, Aug. 1999.
- [7] D. B. Goldstein, S. K. Tate, and S. M. Sisodiya, "Pharmacogenetics goes genomic.," *Nat. Rev. Genet.*, vol. 4, no. 12, pp. 937–47, Dec. 2003.
- [8] W. E. Evans and M. V Relling, "Pharmacogenomics: translating functional genomics into rational therapeutics.," *Science*, vol. 286, no. 5439, pp. 487–91, Oct. 1999.
- [9] J. Lazarou, B. H. Pomeranz, and P. N. Corey, "Incidence of adverse drug reactions in hospitalized patients: a meta-analysis of prospective studies.," *JAMA*, vol. 279, no. 15, pp. 1200–5, Apr. 1998.
- [10] E. C. Davies, C. F. Green, S. Taylor, P. R. Williamson, D. R. Mottram, and M. Pirmohamed, "Adverse drug reactions in hospital in-patients: a prospective analysis of 3695 patient-episodes.," *PLoS One*, vol. 4, no. 2, p. e4439, Jan. 2009.

- [11] L. M. Khan, S. E. Al-Harthi, O. I. Saadah, A. B. Al-Amoudi, M. I. Sulaiman, and I. M. Ibrahim, "Impact of pharmacovigilance on adverse drug reactions reporting in hospitalized internal medicine patients at Saudi Arabian teaching hospital.," *Saudi Med. J.*, vol. 33, no. 8, pp. 863–8, Aug. 2012.
- [12] L. J. John, M. Arifulla, J. J. Cheriathu, and J. Sreedharan, "Reporting of adverse drug reactions: an exploratory study among nurses in a teaching hospital, Ajman, United Arab Emirates.," *Daru*, vol. 20, no. 1, p. 44, Jan. 2012.
- [13] K. A. Phillips, D. L. Veenstra, E. Oren, J. K. Lee, and W. Sadee, "Potential role of pharmacogenomics in reducing adverse drug reactions: a systematic review.," *JAMA*, vol. 286, no. 18, pp. 2270–9, Nov. 2001.
- [14] A. C. Need, A. G. Motulsky, and D. B. Goldstein, "Priorities and standards in pharmacogenetic research.," *Nat. Genet.*, vol. 37, no. 7, pp. 671–81, Jul. 2005.
- [15] F. Schofield, "Damaged sweet clover; the cause of a new disease in cattle simulating haemorrhagic septicemia and blackleg," J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc., vol. 64, pp. p. 553-6, 1924.
- [16] L. M. Roderick, "A Problem in the coagulation of the blood: 'Sweet Clover Disease of Cattle," Am J Physiol -- Leg. Content, vol. 96, no. 2, pp. 413–425, Feb. 1931.
- [17] H. Dam, "The Antihæmorrhagic Vitamin of the Chick.: Occurrence And Chemical Nature," *Nature*, vol. 135(3417):, no. 3417, pp. 652–653, 1935.
- [18] H. A. Campbell, W. K. Smith, W. L. Roberts, and K. P. Link, "Article: studies on the hemorrhagic sweet clover disease: ii . the bioassay of hemorrhagic concentrates by following the prothrombin level in the plasma of rabbit blood," pp. 0–20, 1941.
- [19] H. A. Campbell and K. P. LinK, "Studies on the hemorragic sweet clover desease. IV. The isolation and cristallization of the hemorrhagic agent," J. Biol. Chem., vol. 138, pp. 21–33, 1941.
- [20] M. A. Stahmann, C. F. Huebner, and K. P. Link, "Studies on the Hemorrhagic Sweet Clover Disease. V. Identification and Synthesis of the Hemorrhagic Agent," J. Biol. Chem., no. 65, pp. 513–527, 1940.

- [21] K. P. Link, "The discovery of dicumarol and its sequels.," *Circulation*, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 97–107, Jan. 1959.
- [22] R. W. and J. L. Holmes, "Suicide attempt with warfarin, a bishydroxycoumarin-like rodenticide," *Am Med Assoc*, vol. 148, no. 11, pp. 935–937, 1952.[23] L. S. L. O'Reilly, R.A., P.M. Aggeler, "Studies on the Coumarin Anticoagulant Drugs: The Pharmacodynamics of Warfarin in Man," *J Clin Invest*, vol. 42, pp. 154–159, 1963.
- [24] C. T. Ruff and E. Braunwald, "Will warfarin ever be replaced?," J. Cardiovasc. Pharmacol. Ther., vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 210–9, Sep. 2010.
- [25] J. W. S. Whitlon, D.S., J.A. Sadowski, "Mechanism of coumarin action: significance of Vitamin K epoxide reductase inhibition," *Biochemistry*, vol. 17, no. 8, pp. 1371–1377, 1978.
- [26] M. Wadelius, L. Y. Chen, K. Downes, J. Ghori, S. Hunt, N. Eriksson, O. Wallerman, H. Melhus, C. Wadelius, D. Bentley, and P. Deloukas, "Common VKORC1 and GGCX polymorphisms associated with warfarin dose.," *Pharmacogenomics J.*, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 262–70, Jan. 2005.
- [27] M. Remko, R. Broer, and A. Remková, "A comparative study of the molecular structure, lipophilicity, solubility, acidity, absorption and polar surface area of coumarinic anticoagulants and direct thrombin inhibitors," *RSC Adv.*, vol. 4, no. 16, p. 8072, Jan. 2014.
- [28] A. J. Quick, M. Stanley-Brown, and F. W. Bancroft, "A Study of the Coagulation Defect in Hemophilia and in Jaundice."," Am. J. Med. Sci., no. 190, pp. 501–510, Sep. 1935.
- [29] K. W. Richard A. Harvey, Michelle A Clark, Richard Finkel, Jose A. Rey, *Pharmacology (Lippincott Illustrated Reviews Series)*, Fifth, Nor. USA: LWW.
- [30] A. J. Camm, P. Kirchhof, G. Y. H. Lip, U. Schotten, I. Savelieva, S. Ernst, I. C. Van Gelder, N. Al-Attar, G. Hindricks, B. Prendergast, H. Heidbuchel, O. Alfieri, A. Angelini, D. Atar, P. Colonna, R. De Caterina, J. De Sutter, A. Goette, B. Gorenek, M. Heldal, S. H. Hohloser, P. Kolh, J.-Y. Le Heuzey, P. Ponikowski, and F. H. Rutten, "Guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation: the Task Force for the Management of Atrial Fibrillation of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC).," *Eur. Heart J.*, vol. 31, no. 19, pp. 2369–429, Oct. 2010.

- [31] V. Fuster, L. E. Rydén, D. S. Cannom, H. J. Crijns, A. B. Curtis, K. A. Ellenbogen, J. L. Halperin, J.-Y. Le Heuzey, G. N. Kay, J. E. Lowe, S. B. Olsson, E. N. Prystowsky, J. L. Tamargo, S. Wann, S. C. Smith, A. K. Jacobs, C. D. Adams, J. L. Anderson, E. M. Antman, S. A. Hunt, R. Nishimura, J. P. Ornato, R. L. Page, B. Riegel, S. G. Priori, J.-J. Blanc, A. Budaj, A. J. Camm, V. Dean, J. W. Deckers, C. Despres, K. Dickstein, J. Lekakis, K. McGregor, M. Metra, J. Morais, A. Osterspey, and J. L. Zamorano, "ACC/AHA/ESC 2006 guidelines for the management of patients with atrial fibrillation-executive summary: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines and the European Society of Cardiology Comm," *J. Am. Coll. Cardiol.*, vol. 48, no. 4, pp. 854–906, Aug. 2006.
- [32] C. Kearon, S. R. Kahn, G. Agnelli, S. Goldhaber, G. E. Raskob, and A. J. Comerota, "Antithrombotic therapy for venous thromboembolic disease: American College of Chest Physicians Evidence-Based Clinical Practice Guidelines (8th Edition).," *Chest*, vol. 133, no. 6 Suppl, p. 4548–545S, Jun. 2008.
- [33] D. K. Wysowski, P. Nourjah, and L. Swartz, "Bleeding complications with warfarin use: a prevalent adverse effect resulting in regulatory action.," *Arch. Intern. Med.*, vol. 167, no. 13, pp. 1414–9, Jul. 2007.
- [34] S. D. Fihn, M. McDonell, D. Martin, J. Henikoff, D. Vermes, D. Kent, and R. H. White, "Risk factors for complications of chronic anticoagulation. A multicenter study. Warfarin Optimized Outpatient Follow-up Study Group.," *Ann. Intern. Med.*, vol. 118, no. 7, pp. 511–20, Apr. 1993.
- [35] D. S. Budnitz, D. A. Pollock, K. N. Weidenbach, A. B. Mendelsohn, T. J. Schroeder, and J. L. Annest, "National Surveillance of Emergency Department Visits for Outpatient Adverse Drug Events," vol. 296, no. 15, 2014.
- [36] C. Moore, T.J., Cohen, M.R., Furberg, "Serious adverse drug events reported to the Food and Drug Administration, 1998-2005," *Arch. Intern. Med.*, vol. 167, pp. 1752–1759, 2007.
- [37] M. Dickins, "Induction of cytochromes P450.," *Curr. Top. Med. Chem.*, vol. 4, no. 16, pp. 1745–66, Jan. 2004.

- [38] A. E. Rettie and J. P. Jones, "Clinical and toxicological relevance of CYP2C9: drug-drug interactions and pharmacogenetics.," *Annu. Rev. Pharmacol. Toxicol.*, vol. 45, pp. 477–94, Jan. 2005.
- [39] C. L. Aquilante, T. Y. Langaee, L. M. Lopez, H. N. Yarandi, J. S. Tromberg, D. Mohuczy, K. L. Gaston, C. D. Waddell, M. J. Chirico, and J. A. Johnson, "Influence of coagulation factor, Vitamin K epoxide reductase complex subunit 1, and cytochrome P450 2C9 gene polymorphisms on warfarin dose requirements.," *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, vol. 79, no. 4, pp. 291–302, Apr. 2006.
- [40] B. F. Gage, C. Eby, J. A. Johnson, E. Deych, M. J. Rieder, P. M. Ridker, P. E. Milligan, G. Grice, P. Lenzini, A. E. Rettie, C. L. Aquilante, L. Grosso, S. Marsh, T. Langaee, L. E. Farnett, D. Voora, D. L. Veenstra, R. J. Glynn, A. Barrett, and H. L. McLeod, "Use of pharmacogenetic and clinical factors to predict the therapeutic dose of warfarin.," *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, vol. 84, no. 3, pp. 326–31, Sep. 2008.
- [41] G. P. Aithal, C. P. Day, P. J. Kesteven, and A. K. Daly, "Association of polymorphisms in the cytochrome P450 CYP2C9 with warfarin dose requirement and risk of bleeding complications.," *Lancet*, vol. 353, no. 9154, pp. 717–9, Feb. 1999.
- [42] A. E. Rettie, L. C. Wienkers, F. J. Gonzalez, W. F. Trager, and K. R. Korzekwa, "Impaired (S)-warfarin metabolism catalysed by the R144C allelic variant of CYP2C9.," *Pharmacogenetics*, vol. 4, no. 1, pp. 39–42, Feb. 1994.
- [43] G. D'Andrea, R. L. D'Ambrosio, P. Di Perna, M. Chetta, R. Santacroce, V. Brancaccio, E. Grandone, and M. Margaglione, "A polymorphism in the VKORC1 gene is associated with an interindividual variability in the doseanticoagulant effect of warfarin.," *Blood*, vol. 105, no. 2, pp. 645–9, Jan. 2005.
- [44] G. D'Andrea, R. D'Ambrosio, and M. Margaglione, "Oral anticoagulants: Pharmacogenetics Relationship between genetic and non-genetic factors.," *Blood Rev.*, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 127–40, May 2008.
- [45] B. N. M. Zordoky and A. O. S. El-Kadi, "Effect of cytochrome P450 polymorphism on arachidonic acid metabolism and their impact on cardiovascular diseases.," *Pharmacol. Ther.*, vol. 125, no. 3, pp. 446–63, Mar. 2010.

- [46] M. G. McDonald, M. J. Rieder, M. Nakano, C. K. Hsia, and A. E. Rettie, "CYP4F2 is a Vitamin K1 oxidase: An explanation for altered warfarin dose in carriers of the V433M variant.," *Mol. Pharmacol.*, vol. 75, no. 6, pp. 1337– 46, Jun. 2009.
- [47] F. Takeuchi, R. McGinnis, S. Bourgeois, C. Barnes, N. Eriksson, N. Soranzo, P. Whittaker, V. Ranganath, V. Kumanduri, W. McLaren, L. Holm, J. Lindh, A. Rane, M. Wadelius, and P. Deloukas, "A genome-wide association study confirms VKORC1, CYP2C9, and CYP4F2 as principal genetic determinants of warfarin dose.," *PLoS Genet.*, vol. 5, no. 3, p. e1000433, Mar. 2009.
- [48] E. Pautas, C. Moreau, I. Gouin-Thibault, J.-L. Golmard, I. Mahé, C. Legendre, E. Taillandier-Hériche, B. Durand-Gasselin, A.-M. Houllier, P. Verrier, P. Beaune, M.-A. Loriot, and V. Siguret, "Genetic factors (VKORC1, CYP2C9, EPHX1, and CYP4F2) are predictor variables for warfarin response in very elderly, frail inpatients.," *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, vol. 87, no. 1, pp. 57–64, Jan. 2010.
- [49] M. D. Caldwell, T. Awad, J. a Johnson, B. F. Gage, M. Falkowski, P. Gardina, J. Hubbard, Y. Turpaz, T. Y. Langaee, C. Eby, C. R. King, A. Brower, J. R. Schmelzer, I. Glurich, H. J. Vidaillet, S. H. Yale, K. Qi Zhang, R. L. Berg, and J. K. Burmester, "CYP4F2 genetic variant alters required warfarin dose.," *Blood*, vol. 111, no. 8, pp. 4106–12, Apr. 2008.
- [50] J.-K. Tie, D.-Y. Jin, D. L. Straight, and D. W. Stafford, "Functional study of the Vitamin K cycle in mammalian cells.," *Blood*, vol. 117, no. 10, pp. 2967– 74, Mar. 2011.
- [51] C. R. King, E. Deych, P. Milligan, C. Eby, P. Lenzini, G. Grice, R. M. Porche-Sorbet, P. M. Ridker, and B. F. Gage, "Gamma-glutamyl carboxylase and its influence on warfarin dose.," *Thromb. Haemost.*, vol. 104, no. 4, pp. 750–4, Oct. 2010.
- [52] R. P. Owen, L. Gong, H. Sagreiya, T. E. Klein, and R. B. Altman, "VKORC1 pharmacogenomics summary.," *Pharmacogenet. Genomics*, vol. 20, no. 10, pp. 642–4, Oct. 2010.
- [53] Y. Lurie, R. Loebstein, D. Kurnik, S. Almog, and H. Halkin, "Warfarin and Vitamin K intake in the era of pharmacogenetics.," *Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.*, vol. 70, no. 2, pp. 164–70, Aug. 2010.

- [54] S. L. Booth and A. Al Rajabi, "Determinants of vitamin K status in humans.," *Vitam. Horm.*, vol. 78, pp. 1–22, Jan. 2008.
- [55] C. W. Thane, A. A. Paul, C. J. Bates, C. Bolton-Smith, A. Prentice, and M. J. Shearer, "Intake and sources of phylloquinone (Vitamin K1): variation with socio-demographic and lifestyle factors in a national sample of British elderly people.," *Br. J. Nutr.*, vol. 87, no. 6, pp. 605–13, Jun. 2002.
- [56] M. C. de Assis, E. R. Rabelo, C. W. Avila, C. A. Polanczyk, and L. E. Rohde, "Improved oral anticoagulation after a dietary Vitamin k-guided strategy: a randomized controlled trial.," *Circulation*, vol. 120, no. 12, pp. 1115–22, 3 p following 1122, Sep. 2009.
- [57] G. Wolf, C., Smith, "Pharmacogenetics," Br. Med. J., vol. 55, pp. 366–386, 1999.
- [58] G. Le Gal, M. Carrier, S. Tierney, H. Majeed, M. Rodger, and P. S. Wells, "Prediction of the warfarin maintenance dose after completion of the 10 mg initiation nomogram: do we really need genotyping?," *J. Thromb. Haemost.*, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 90–4, Jan. 2010.
- [59] L. Bertilsson, "Geographical/interracial differences in polymorphic drug oxidation. Current state of knowledge of cytochromes P450 (CYP) 2D6 and 2C19.," *Clin. Pharmacokinet.*, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 192–209, Sep. 1995.
- [60] A. K. Daly and B. P. King, "Pharmacogenetics of oral anticoagulants.," *Pharmacogenetics*, vol. 13, no. 5, pp. 247–52, May 2003.
- [61] J. S. Rogers, J.F., Nafziger, A. N., Bertino, "Pharmacogenetics affects dosing, efficacy, and toxicity of cytochrome P450-metabolized drugs," *Am J Med*, no. 113, pp. 746–750, 2002.
- [62] M. Hiratsuka, M., Sasaki, T., Mizugaki, "Genetic testing for pharmacogenetics and its clinical application in drug therapy," *Clin Chim Acta*, no. 363, pp. 177– 186, 2006.
- [63] M. K. Higashi, D. L. Veenstra, L. M. Kondo, A. K. Wittkowsky, S. L. Srinouanprachanh, F. M. Farin, and A. E. Rettie, "Association between CYP2C9 genetic variants and anticoagulation-related outcomes during warfarin therapy.," *JAMA*, vol. 287, no. 13, pp. 1690–8, Apr. 2002.

- [64] H. Takahashi, T. Kashima, S. Nomoto, K. Iwade, H. Tainaka, T. Shimizu, Y. Nomizo, N. Muramoto, S. Kimura, and H. Echizen, "Comparisons between invitro and in-vivo metabolism of (S)-warfarin: catalytic activities of cDNA-expressed CYP2C9, its Leu359 variant and their mixture versus unbound clearance in patients with the corresponding CYP2C9 genotypes.," *Pharmacogenetics*, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 365–73, Oct. 1998.
- [65] J. Kirchheiner and J. Brockmöller, "Clinical consequences of cytochrome P450 2C9 polymorphisms.," *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, vol. 77, no. 1, pp. 1–16, Jan. 2005.
- [66] K. A. Ross, A. W. Bigham, M. Edwards, A. Gozdzik, G. Suarez-Kurtz, and E. J. Parra, "Worldwide allele frequency distribution of four polymorphisms associated with warfarin dose requirements.," *J. Hum. Genet.*, vol. 55, no. 9, pp. 582–9, Sep. 2010.
- [67] D. W. Stafford, "The Vitamin K cycle.," J. Thromb. Haemost., vol. 3, no. 8, pp. 1873–8, Aug. 2005.
- [68] T. Li, C.-Y. Chang, D.-Y. Jin, P.-J. Lin, A. Khvorova, and D. W. Stafford, "Identification of the gene for Vitamin K epoxide reductase.," *Nature*, vol. 427, no. 6974, pp. 541–4, Feb. 2004.
- [69] S. Rost, A. Fregin, V. Ivaskevicius, E. Conzelmann, K. Hörtnagel, H.-J. Pelz, K. Lappegard, E. Seifried, I. Scharrer, E. G. D. Tuddenham, C. R. Müller, T. M. Strom, and J. Oldenburg, "Mutations in VKORC1 cause warfarin resistance and multiple coagulation factor deficiency type 2.," *Nature*, vol. 427, no. 6974, pp. 537–41, Mar. 2004.
- [70] J. Oldenburg, C. G. Bevans, A. Fregin, C. Geisen, C. Müller-Reible, and M. Watzka, "Current pharmacogenetic developments in oral anticoagulation therapy: the influence of variant VKORC1 and CYP2C9 alleles.," *Thromb. Haemost.*, vol. 98, no. 3, pp. 570–8, Sep. 2007.
- [71] J. E. Sadler, "Medicine: K is for koagulation.," *Nature*, vol. 427, no. 6974, pp. 493–4, Mar. 2004.
- [72] The GeneCards Human Gene Database, "Vitamin K Epoxide Reductase Complex, Subunit 1." [Online]. Available: http://www.genecards.org/cgibin/carddisp.pl?gene=VKORC1.

- [73] P.-H. Chu, T.-Y. Huang, J. Williams, and D. W. Stafford, "Purified vitamin K epoxide reductase alone is sufficient for conversion of vitamin K epoxide to vitamin K and vitamin K to vitamin KH2.," *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, vol. 103, no. 51, pp. 19308–13, Dec. 2006.
- [74] A. Dasgupta and L. J. Langman, *Pharmacogenomics in Clinical Therapeutics*, 2nd Editio. Hoboken, NJ, USA: John Wiley & Sons.
- [75] S. El Rouby, C. A. Mestres, F. M. LaDuca, and M. L. Zucker, "Racial and ethnic differences in warfarin response.," *J. Heart Valve Dis.*, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 15–21, Jan. 2004.
- [76] J. Oldenburg, M. Watzka, S. Rost, and C. R. Müller, "VKORC1: molecular target of coumarins.," J. Thromb. Haemost., vol. 5 Suppl 1, pp. 1–6, Jul. 2007.
- [77] J. Oldenburg, B. von Brederlow, A. Fregin, S. Rost, W. Wolz, W. Eberl, S. Eber, E. Lenz, R. Schwaab, H. H. Brackmann, W. Effenberger, U. Harbrecht, L. J. Schurgers, C. Vermeer, and C. R. Müller, "Congenital deficiency of vitamin K dependent coagulation factors in two families presents as a genetic defect of the vitamin K-epoxide-reductase-complex.," *Thromb. Haemost.*, vol. 84, no. 6, pp. 937-41, Dec. 2000.
- [78] A. S. Daar and P. A. Singer, "Pharmacogenetics and geographical ancestry: implications for drug development and global health.," *Nat. Rev. Genet.*, vol. 6, no. 3, pp. 241–6, Mar. 2005.
- [79] M. J. Rieder, A. P. Reiner, B. F. Gage, D. A. Nickerson, C. S. Eby, H. L. McLeod, D. K. Blough, K. E. Thummel, D. L. Veenstra, and A. E. Rettie, "Effect of VKORC1 haplotypes on transcriptional regulation and warfarin dose.," *N. Engl. J. Med.*, vol. 352, no. 22, pp. 2285–93, Jun. 2005.
- [80] N. A. Limdi, T. M. Beasley, M. R. Crowley, J. A. Goldstein, M. J. Rieder, D. A. Flockhart, D. K. Arnett, R. T. Acton, and N. Liu, "VKORC1 polymorphisms, haplotypes and haplotype groups on warfarin dose among African-Americans and European-Americans.," *Pharmacogenomics*, vol. 9, no. 10, pp. 1445–58, Oct. 2008.
- [81] C. Geisen, M. Watzka, K. Sittinger, M. Steffens, L. Daugela, E. Seifried, C. R. Müller, T. F. Wienker, and J. Oldenburg, "VKORC1 haplotypes and their impact on the inter-individual and inter-ethnical variability of oral anticoagulation.," *Thromb. Haemost.*, vol. 94, no. 4, pp. 773–9, Oct. 2005.

- [82] C. Yuan, H.Y., Chen, J.J., Lee, M.T., Wung, J.C., Chen, Y.F. and et al M.J., Lu, M.J., Hung, C.R., Wei, C.Y., Chen, C.H., "A novel functional VKORC1 promoter polymorphism is associated with inter-individual and inter-ethnic differences in warfarin sensitivity," *Hum. Mol. Genet*, vol. 15, pp. 1745–1751, 2005.
- [83] D. V. Herman D, Peternel P, Stegnar M, Breskvar K, "The influence of sequence variations in factor VII, gamma-glutamyl car- boxylase and vitaminKepoxide reductase complex genes on warfarin dose requirement," *Thromb Haemost*, vol. 95, pp. 782–787, 2006.
- [84] A. Shehab, A., Elnour, A., Abdulle ,A., Souid, "A prospective study on the use of warfarin in the United arab emirates," *Open Cardiovasc Med J*, vol. 6, pp. 72–75, 2012.
- [85] Food and Drug Administration (FDA), "Table of Pharmacogenomic Biomarkers in Drug Labeling," 2009. [Online]. Available: http://www.fda.gov/drugs/scienceresearch/researchareas/pharmacogenetics/uc m083378.htm.
- [86] A. M. Alzahrani, G. Ragia, H. Hanieh, and V. G. Manolopoulos, "Genotyping of CYP2C9 and VKORC1 in the Arabic population of Al-Ahsa, Saudi Arabia.," *Biomed Res. Int.*, vol. 2013, p. 315980, Jan. 2013.
- [87] N. Azarpira, S. Namazi, F. Hendijani, M. Banan, and M. Darai, "Investigation of allele and genotype frequencies of CYP2C9, CYP2C19 and VKORC1 in Iran," *Pharmacol. Reports*, vol. 62, no. 4, pp. 740–746, Jul. 2010.
- [88] L. Miao, J. Yang, C. Huang, and Z. Shen, "Contribution of age, body weight, and CYP2C9 and VKORC1 genotype to the anticoagulant response to warfarin: proposal for a new dosing regimen in Chinese patients.," *Eur. J. Clin. Pharmacol.*, vol. 63, no. 12, pp. 1135-41, Dec. 2007.
- [89] N. L. of M. National Center for Biotechnology Information, "Database of Single Nucleotide Polymorphisms (dbSNP)." [Online]. Available: www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/SNP/snp_ref.cgi?rs=9923231. [Accessed: 30-Dec-2012].

- [90] S.-C. Lee, S.-S. Ng, J. Oldenburg, P.-Y. Chong, S. Rost, J.-Y. Guo, H.-L. Yap, S. C. Rankin, H.-B. Khor, T.-C. Yeo, K.-S. Ng, R. Soong, and B.-C. Goh, "Interethnic variability of warfarin maintenance requirement is explained by VKORC1 genotype in an Asian population.," *Clin. Pharmacol. Ther.*, vol. 79, no. 3, pp. 197–205, Mar. 2006.
- [91] J. Chen, L. Shao, L. Gong, F. Luo, J. Wang, Y. Shi, Y. Tan, Q. Chen, Y. Zhang, R. Hui, and Y. Wang, "A pharmacogenetics-based warfarin maintenance dosing algorithm from Northern Chinese patients.," *PLoS One*, vol. 9, no. 8, p. e105250, Jan. 2014.
- [92] F. Kamali, "Genetic influences on the response to warfarin," *Curr Opin Hematol.*, vol. 13, pp. 357–361, 2006.
- [93] M.-T. N. Dang, J. Hambleton, and S. R. Kayser, "The influence of ethnicity on warfarin dosage requirement.," *Ann. Pharmacother.*, vol. 39, no. 6, pp. 1008–12, Jun. 2005.
- [94] G. G. Gan, A. Teh, K. Y. Goh, H. T. Chong, and K. W. Pang, "Racial background is a determinant factor in the maintenance dosage of Warfarin," *Int. J. Hematol.*, vol. 78, no. 1, pp. 84–86, Feb. 2003.